
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Date Not Specified. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 19 November 2019 at 2.00 pm
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman)
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Chris Benn, Councillor Louise Clack, Councillor 
Philip Knowles, Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Mark Whittington

Agenda
1.  Membership

The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

2.  Apologies

3.  Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

4.  Remit of the Companies Committee
Introduction to the Companies Committee and its Terms of Reference. Item led 
by the Chairman, Councillor Graham Jeal. 

(Pages 3 - 4)

Companies 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


5.  InvestSK
Substantive Item- Overview report of InvestSK, in additional to appendices 
outlining the governance, business structure, financial statements and 
business plan of the company. 

(Pages 5 - 111)

6.  DeliverSK
Overview report for DeliverSK.

(Pages 113 - 114)

7.  Wherrys Lane Management Limited
Overview report for Wherrys Lane Management Limited.

(Pages 115 - 116)

8.  EnvironmentSK
Overview report for EnvironmentSK.

(Pages 117 - 118)

9.  East Midlands Building Control
Overview report for EMBC.

(Pages 119 - 121)

10.  Gravitas Housing
Overview report for Gravitas Housing. 

(Pages 123 - 125)

11.  Work Programme
The Committee to discuss upcoming items for future meetings. 

(document to follow at subsequent meetings of the Committee)

12.  Any other business, which the Chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent.



Article 12 – Companies Committee

Article 12 – The Companies Committee
 
The Council will establish and maintain a Companies Committee to act in accordance 
with these terms of reference in relation to any stand-alone company or joint venture 
partnership or other such collaborative arrangement, whether wholly or jointly owned 
by the Council. 

The Committee’s primary purpose will be to provide oversight of company or other 
venture business planning processes to ensure alignment with the Council’s 
overarching strategy whilst recognising the operational independence of the 
company/venture.

The Committee will also provide the scrutiny function for investments, outcomes 
against funding, property disposals and other resourcing decisions made in relation to 
companies.

12.1 Membership

(i) The Companies Committee will be composed of eight Members and will 
be appointed annually at the annual Council meeting.

(ii) The Companies Committee will comply with the Political Balance Rules 
in Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

12.2 Meetings of the Committee

(i) Meetings will take place at least four times per annum.
(ii) Additional meetings will be arranged as required to consider exceptional 

items.
(iii) Appropriate representatives of the companies/venture will be included 

as required by the content of the agenda.

12.3 Chairman and Vice-Chairman

(i) At the Annual meeting the Council shall appoint the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of the Companies Committee.

(ii) If the Chairman or Vice-Chairman resigns by giving written notice of 
resignation to the Chief Executive, the appointment of a new Chairman 
will be made by Council at its next available meeting. 

(iii) The Chairman, if present, shall preside.

(iv) If the Chairman is absent, the Vice-Chairman shall preside. If the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman are absent, the Committee shall elect one 
of the members present as Chairman of that meeting.

3

Agenda Item 4



Article 12 – Companies Committee

12.4 Powers of Chairman and Vice-Chairman

(i) The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of a Committee (acting together as a 
Sub-committee) are authorised to give decisions on any matter of 

a) a routine or straight-forward nature
b) which the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, after consultation with 

the Chief Executive or relevant Strategic Director most directly 
concerned, are satisfied should be dealt with as a matter or 
urgency.

Any decision taken under paragraph (i) above shall be reported 
by the officer concerned to the next meeting of the Committee

(ii) No decision shall be taken under paragraph (i) which would constitute a 
departure from a settled strategy, policy or programme of the Council, 
nor outside the powers of the Committee.

12.5 Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference of the Companies Committee are to:

(1) Consider proposals on the creation of any new company or joint venture, 
and make recommendations to Cabinet as to the need, desirability and 
business objectives of the new entity prior to its creation;

(2) Approve and monitor Strategic Business Plans of any new company/joint 
venture together with any substantive changes to those plans;

(3) Have oversight on an annual basis of the Strategic Business Plans of 
existing companies/joint ventures and to consider any substantive 
changes to those plans;

(4) Receive reports and evaluate strategic performance, including financial 
performance, against Strategic Business Plans

(5) Make recommendations to the Cabinet on:
- Appropriate skills and expertise at Board level;
- The strategic objectives;
- The strategic direction

(6) Approve the appointment of company directors, subject to the Articles of 
        Association of the company concerned

4



Companies Committee
19 November 2019

Witham Room, South Kesteven House

  

InvestSK      
The Purpose of the Company
To drive economic, cultural and social growth across South Kesteven, through supporting 
private businesses, skills providers, community groups, visitor attractions, heritage and 
cultural organisations, and driving the place-making agenda. This will lead to Prosperity for 
All, Equality of Opportunity, and Enhanced Quality of Life.

Type of Company 
Private Company Limited by Guarantee

Date the Company Started Trading
1st October 2018

Company Directors
Leader of SKDC -  Councillor Kelham Cooke
Deputy Leader of SKDC -  Councillor Barry Dobson
CEO of SKDC -  Paul Thomas (interim CEO)

Articles of Association 
Any person willing to act as a director may be appointed director, if permitted by law by a) 
ordinary resolution or b) a decision of the directors.

The appointment of the Leader, Deputy Leader and CEO of SKDC as directors of the 
company is not enshrined in the Articles (as it was a member decision when establishing the 
company). It is intimated in the Articles, however, when they refer to director’s termination of 
appointment: at 18 f) it explicitly states that a director’s appointment will be terminated when 
“they cease to hold the relevant office with the member (as the Leader, Deputy Leader or 
Chief Executive of the member)”.

5

Agenda Item 5



Key Milestones Looking Forward
Given the breadth and diversity of InvestSK’s remit, there are few ‘single point’ corporate level 
milestones. There are, however, a number of key actions across all of the company’s areas of 
activity, which will have a significant impact on achieving anticipated outcomes. 
A considerable amount of InvestSK’s activities are not ‘project-bound’ but rather respond to 
market demand: eg enquiries from local businesses & start-ups for support; advice to 
community groups on funding options. The table below (Table 1) highlights key deliverables 
within the various departments of InvestSK, but cannot incorporate the responsive nature of 
the company’s work which has unpredictable ‘milestones’.

It should be noted that the majority of these activities are subject to InvestSK budget 
review. If budgets are reduced / recovered, the extent of activity will be reassessed 
accordingly.

Table 1: Key Milestones 

ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION OUTCOMES DELIVERY 

Core Operations

Explore alternative 
income streams

Explore sponsorship & 
external contracts

Attract £30k alternative 
external income to iSK 
(2020-21)

Q3-4 
approaches
Income for 

20/21

Place-Making & Heritage

Wayfinding 
Implementation

Installing totems across all 
4 towns & fingerposts

7 totems installed; 10 
fingerposts.
Enhanced quality of 
experience

Q3

Future High Streets 
Fund bid

Submission of formal bid 
to FHSF

Multi-million pound 
investment to 
Grantham town centre 
(subject to local ‘co-
funding)

Q4

Historic High 
Streets HAZ bid

Submission of delivery 
programme 

Up to £1m investment 
into Grantham heritage 
quarter (subject to local 
match- funding)

Submission 
Q3

Decision Q4
Delivery 
2020-21

Heritage Capacity 
Building

Bids to external funders 
for major capacity building 
programme over 2 years; 
direct support to groups.

Potential £150k 
external funding for 
2020-22.

Q3 submit 
bid

Decision Q4

Business Growth

6



‘Step-Up’ to Growth 
Workshops

2 workshops for local 
businesses in the £1m+ 
T/O ready for growth 

Increased job creation 
and productivity. 
Ultimately 40 jobs est

Q4

Town Centre 
Investment Fund

Closure of final round 
supporting business 
growth into empty units

Job growth & active 
high streets. Further 3 
units – 10 jobs

Q3-4

Supporting new 
business hubs

Engagement with private 
sector, GLLEP, and LCC 
to bring forward hubs in 
the Deepings, Bourne, and 
Grantham

Enterprise count & job 
growth 
12 new enterprises 
supported; 60 jobs 
retained / grown

Q4 – plans 
progressed

Development 
start 2020-21

Supporting 
business 
expansion plans

Facilitating property 
provision for business 
expansion 

Potential to retain 150 
jobs & 130 job 
expansion

Q3 –  
property 
solutions

Q4 – 
agreements  

Development 
2020-21

Inward Investment

Southern Quadrant 
power demand 
consortium

Report received on power 
requirements for all 
strategic sites in Grantham 
Sth Quadrant

Full understanding of 
power requirements to 
enable Sth Quadrant 
delivery  -  100 acres of 
employment land

Q4

Grantham Oakdale Supporting Grantham 
Oakdale (Gonerby Moor) 
to market

200 acre major 
investment site brought 
to market

To market 
2020-21 

St Martin’s Park 
Inward Investment 

Facilitate inward 
investment enquiries to 
Barnack Road site 

Evidence of business 
demand & enquiries 

Q4 initiation 
(dependent 

on 
Masterplan)

Skills

Providers Network 
Summit

Developing a collaboration 
between local providers to 
better understand 
business needs

Increased provision of 
apprenticeship & other 
courses locally. 
Provider network 
established.

Q3

University Centre Delivering University 
Centre fit-out; building 
market demand & course 
sign-ups

University Centre open
20 learners by year end

Q4

7



Annual Skills 
Summit (Careers 
Fair)

Combined employer & 
provider career 
opportunities fair; 
seminars & breakouts

Apprenticeships signed 
up on the day (est 12 
on the day).

Q4

Visitor Economy

Visitor Guide Comprehensive guide to 
District’s attractions

30,000 printed & 
circulated – raising 
profile

Early Q4

Attractions Guide A5 fold-out of principle 
attractions

20,000 printed & 
circulated – raising 
profile

Q4

Cycle England 
Project

Visit Britain cycling project 
across district

Profile – targeting 
German & Dutch 
market

Q4

‘Excursions’ Trade Travel show Showcasing district 
nationally

Q4

Arts & Culture

Cultural Strategy Launch of Cultural 
Strategy

Successful strategy that 
builds engagement 
from local creatives & 
audiences.

Draft Q3
Complete Q4

Grantham Arts 
Pop-up

Establish a venue for 
creative exhibitions in 
Market Place to make art 
more accessible.

6 local artists exhibited Q3

Rural Arts 
Outreach

Activities in village halls, 
and pilot project on art-
environment-agri

6 village halls hosting 
events as part of 
Village Halls week
Pilot project in rural 
location.

Early Q4

‘Short Films’ 
Festival – Deepings

Series of showings of 
short films as a mini-
festival in Deepings

Increased audience 
participation in the arts 
in Deepings

Q4

Gravity Fields 
Launch

Launch event to announce 
GF 2020

Successful event 
(timing & content 
dependent on Arts 
Council funding)

Q4

Physical Activity 
Interventions

Developing pilot projects 
for easy-access 
engagement & advice 
(urban & rural). 

2 pilots implemented Q3-4

8



Community Funding

Support to major 
funding bids in 
Deepings, Bourne, 
Stamford 

Providing major support to 
4 key community groups 
that are looking to drive 
the well-being and cultural 
agenda.

Successful bids 
totalling £250k

Bids 
submitted 

Q3-4
Decisions Q4 
/ Q1 2020-1

Town Centres & Markets

Promotional 
activity

Identify highly visible 
promotional interventions 
for town centres 

Visible material 
increases footfall to 
market/town centre

Q3

Town Independents Support to the 
independent retailers & 
town offer 

Direct support to 
independent retailers 
bespoke to town 

Q3

Steve Bowyer
CEO, InvestSK
29th October 2019

Accompanying Appendices

The following documents have been attached to provide the maximum level of insight for Companies 
Committee:

Articles of Association

Governance Manual.

Team Organogram.

Grants Overview.

2018/19 Accounts (half year only).

Business Plan 2019/20.

Budget 2019/20.

Outputs for First Year.

9



This page is intentionally left blank



    SCHEDULE 2                         Regulation 3

ARTICLES FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 
A PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE

INDEX TO THE ARTICLES

PART 1
INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

1. Defined terms
2. Liability of members

PART 2
DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3. Directors’ general authority
4. Members’ reserve power
5. Directors may delegate
6. Committees

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS
7. Directors to take decisions collectively
8. Unanimous decisions
9. Calling a directors’ meeting
10. Participation in directors’ meetings
11. Quorum for directors’ meetings
12. Chairing of directors’ meetings
13. Casting vote
14. Conflicts of interest
15. Records of decisions to be kept
16. Directors’ discretion to make further rules

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
17. Methods of appointing directors
18. Termination of director’s appointment
19. Directors’ remuneration
20. Directors’ expenses

PART 3
MEMBERS

BECOMING AND CEASING TO BE A MEMBER

21. Applications for membership
22. Termination of membership

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

11

Appendix 1



23. Attendance and speaking at general meetings
24. Quorum for general meetings
25. Chairing general meetings
26. Attendance and speaking by directors and non-members
27. Adjournment

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS
28. Voting: general
29. Errors and disputes
30. Poll votes
31. Content of proxy notices
32. Delivery of proxy notices
33. Amendments to resolutions

PART 4
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

34. Means of communication to be used
35. Company seals
36. No right to inspect accounts and other records
37. Provision for employees on cessation of business

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
38. Indemnity
39. Insurance

12



PART 1

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

Defined terms
1. In the articles for InvestSK Limited a not-for-profit company limited by 
guarantee, unless the context requires otherwise—

“articles” means the company’s articles of association;

“bankruptcy” includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction 

other than England and Wales or Northern Ireland which have an effect 

similar to that of bankruptcy;

“chairman” has the meaning given in article 12;

“chairman of the meeting” has the meaning given in article 25;

“Companies Acts” means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of 

the Companies Act 2006), in so far as they apply to the company;

“director” means a director of the company, and includes any person 

occupying the position of director, by whatever name called;

“document” includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or 

supplied in electronic form;

“electronic form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies 

Act 2006;

 “member” has the meaning given in section 112 of the Companies Act 

2006;

“ordinary resolution” has the meaning given in section 282 of the 

Companies Act 2006;

“participate”, in relation to a directors’ meeting, has the meaning given in 

article 10;

“proxy notice” has the meaning given in article 31;

“special resolution” has the meaning given in section 283 of the 

Companies Act 2006;

“subsidiary” has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act 

2006; and

“writing” means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or 

other information in a visible form by any method or combination of 

methods, whether sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise.

13



Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained 
in these articles bear the same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in 
force on the date when these articles become binding on the company.

Liability of members

2. The liability of each member is limited to £1, being the amount that each 
member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of 
its being wound up while he is a member or within one year after he ceases to 
be a member, for—

(a) payment of the company’s debts and liabilities contracted before he 
ceases to be a
member,
(b) payment of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and
(c) adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves.

14



PART 2

DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Directors’ general authority

3.—Subject to the articles, the directors are responsible for the management 
of the company’s business the principle object of which is to support the 
member with the economic, social and cultural growth of South Kesteven for 
which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the company.  The 
directors may also exercise their responsibilities and powers in relation to any 
ancillary objects which may be conducive to, and/or are ancillary to, and/or 
align with, the company’s main objects whether in or outside the area of the 
South Kesteven area as the directors deem to be appropriate to the 
company’s business and which are for the benefit of the company and the 
member.  

Member’s reserve power

4.—(1) The Member may, by special resolution, direct the directors to take, or 
refrain from taking, specified action.
(2) No such special resolution invalidates anything which the directors have 
done before the passing of the resolution.
(3) The member or a representative(s) of the Member can be invited to board 
meetings as appropriate.
 
Directors may delegate 

5.—(1) Subject to the articles, the directors may delegate any of the powers 
which are conferred on them under the articles—

(a) to such person or committee;
(b) by such means (including by power of attorney);
(c) to such an extent;
(d) in relation to such matters or territories; and
(e) on such terms and conditions;

as they think fit.
(2) If the directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further 
delegation of the directors’ powers by any person to whom they are 
delegated.
(3) The directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms 
and conditions.

Committees
6.—(1) Committees to which the directors delegate any of their powers must 
follow procedures which are based as far as they are applicable on those 
provisions of the articles which govern the taking of decisions by directors.

15



(2) The directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, 
which prevail over rules derived from the articles if they are not consistent with 
them.

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS

Directors to take decisions collectively

7.—(1) The general rule about decision-making by directors is that any 
decision of the directors must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a 
decision taken in accordance with article 8, and such decision will only be 
valid where it is supported by at least one  director who is an elected 
representative or officer of the Member.

Unanimous decisions

8.—(1) A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this article when 
all eligible directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a 
common view on a matter.
(2) Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, copies of 
which have been signed by each eligible director or to which each eligible 
director has otherwise indicated agreement in writing.
(3) References in this article to eligible directors are to directors who would 
have been entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution 
at a directors’ meeting.
(4) A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible 
directors would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting.

Calling a directors’ meeting

9.—(1) Any director may call a directors’ meeting by giving notice of the 
meeting to the directors or by authorising the company secretary (if any) to 
give such notice with at least five working days’ notice of such a meeting
(2) Notice of any directors’ meeting must indicate—

(a) its proposed date and time;
(b) where it is to take place; and
(c) if it is anticipated that directors participating in the meeting will not be 
in the same place, how it is proposed that they should communicate with 
each other during the meeting.

(3) Notice of a directors’ meeting must be given to each director in writing (this 
can include email).
(4) Notice of a directors’ meeting need not be given to directors who waive 
their entitlement to notice of that meeting, by giving notice to that effect to the 
company not more than 7 days after the date on which the meeting is held. 
Where such notice is given after the meeting has been held, that does not 
affect the validity of the meeting, or of any business conducted at it.

16



Participation in directors’ meetings

10.—(1) Subject to the articles, directors participate in a directors’ meeting, or 
part of a directors’ meeting, when—

(a) the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with the 
articles, and
(b) they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions 
they have on any particular item of the business of the meeting.

(2) In determining whether directors are participating in a directors’ meeting, it 
is irrelevant where any director is or how they communicate with each other.
(3) If all the directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they 
may decide that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of 
them is.

Quorum for directors’ meetings

11.—(1) At a directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal 
is to be voted on, except a proposal to call another meeting.
(2) The quorum for directors’ meetings may be fixed from time to time by a 
decision of the directors, but it must never be less than half the total number 
of eligible directors, and must have present at least one director who is either 
an elected representative or officer of the Member.  
(3) If the total number of directors for the time being is less than the quorum 
required, the directors must not take any decision other than a decision—

(a) to appoint further directors, or
(b) to call a general meeting so as to enable the members to appoint 
further directors.

Chairing of directors’ meetings

12.—(1) The directors may appoint a director to chair their meetings and 
undertake any other duties delegated to that role in accordance with the 
provision of these Articles.
(2) The person so appointed for the time being is known as the chairman.
(3) The directors may also appoint a director to act as vice-chairman, who will 
be known as such and who will act as a substitute to the chair in the 
chairman’s absence.
(4) The directors may terminate the chairman’s or vice chairman’s 
appointment at any time subject to the decision-making provisions of these 
Articles.
(5) If the chairman is not participating in a directors’ meeting within ten 
minutes of the time at which it was to start, the vice chairman (if one has been 
appointed Article 12(3) above) will act as the chairman and in absence of the 
chairman and the vice chairman the participating directors must appoint one 
of themselves to chair it provided that the meeting is quorum.  

Casting vote

17



13.—(1) If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the 
chairman, vice chairman or other director chairing the meeting has a casting 
vote.
(2) But this does not apply if, in accordance with the articles, the chairman, 
vice-chairman or other director is not to be counted as participating in the 
decision-making process for quorum or voting purposes.

Conflicts of interest

14.—(1) If a proposed decision of the directors is concerned with an actual or 
proposed
transaction or arrangement with the company in which a director is interested, 
that director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making 
process for quorum or voting purposes.
(2) But if paragraph (3) applies, a director who is interested in an actual or 
proposed transaction or arrangement with the company is to be counted as 
participating in the decision-making process for quorum and voting purposes.
(3) This paragraph applies when—

(a) the company by ordinary resolution disapplies the provision of the 
articles which would otherwise prevent a director from being counted as 
participating in the decision-making process;
(b) the director’s interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give 
rise to a conflict of interest; or
(c) the director’s conflict of interest arises from a permitted cause.

(4) For the purposes of this article, the following are permitted causes—
(a) a guarantee given, or to be given, by or to a director in respect of an 
obligation incurred by or on behalf of the company or any of its 
subsidiaries;
(b) subscription, or an agreement to subscribe, for securities of the 
company or any of its subsidiaries, or to underwrite, sub-underwrite, or 
guarantee subscription for any such securities; and 
(c) arrangements pursuant to which benefits are made available to 
employees and directors or former employees and directors of the 
company or any of its subsidiaries which do not provide special benefits 
for directors or former directors.

(5) For the purposes of this article, references to proposed decisions and 
decision-making processes include any directors’ meeting or part of a 
directors’ meeting.
(6) Subject to paragraph (7), if a question arises at a meeting of directors or of 
a committee of directors as to the right of a director to participate in the 
meeting (or part of the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes, the question 
may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the chairman whose 
ruling in relation to any director other than the chairman is to be final and 
conclusive.
(7) If any question as to the right to participate in the meeting (or part of the 
meeting) should arise in respect of the chairman, the question is to be 
decided by a decision of the directors at that meeting, for which purpose the 
chairman is not to be counted as participating in the meeting (or that part of 
the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes.

18



Records of decisions to be kept

15. The directors must ensure that the company keeps a record, in writing, for 
at least 10 years from the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous 
or majority decision taken by the directors.

Directors’ discretion to make further rules

16. Subject to the articles, the directors may make any rule which they think fit 
about how they take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded 
or communicated to directors.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Methods of appointing directors

17.—(1) Any person who is willing to act as a director, and is permitted by law 
to do so, may be appointed to be a director—

(a) by ordinary resolution, or
(b) by a decision of the directors.

(2) In any case where the company has no directors, the member will direct 
new directors to the company to take over the running of the company’s 
business. 
  
Termination of director’s appointment

18. A person ceases to be a director as soon as—
(a) that person ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the 
Companies Act 2006 or is prohibited from being a director by law;
(b) a bankruptcy order is made against that person;
(c) a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in 
satisfaction of that person’s debts;
(d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a 
written opinion to the company stating that that person has become 
physically or mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so 
for more than three months;
(e) notification is received by the company from the director that the 
director is resigning from office, and such resignation has taken effect in 
accordance with its terms. 
(f) They cease to hold the relevant office with the member (as the Leader, 
Deputy Leader or Chief Executive of the member).

Directors’ remuneration

19.—(1) Directors of the board will not receive remuneration

19



Directors’ expenses

20. The company may pay any reasonable expenses which the directors 
properly incur in connection with their attendance at—

(a) meetings of directors or committees of directors,
(b) general meetings, or
(c) separate meetings of the holders of debentures of the company, or 
otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the 
discharge of their responsibilities in relation to the company.

20



PART 3

MEMBERS

BECOMING AND CEASING TO BE A MEMBER

Applications for membership

21.  If at any time, there is a will for any additional member(s) of the company, 
this will require the consent of the existing member and will be subject to any 
reasonable conditions that the existing member may require.   

Termination of membership

22.—(1) A member may withdraw from membership of the company by giving 
at least 7 days’ notice to the company in writing.
(2) Membership is not transferable.
(3) Membership will be terminated forthwith by the member. in the case of the 
death or insolvency of a member or where the members’ business ceases to 
exist for any other reasons such termination without prejudice to any liabilities 
that may have arisen during their time as a member of the company which 
can still be pursued against the member, their personal representatives, 
administrators or liquidators or other person acting on their behalf to exist.

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Attendance and speaking at general meetings

23.—(1) A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting 
when that person is in a position to communicate to all those attending the 
meeting, during the meeting, any information or opinions which that person 
has on the business of the meeting.
(2) A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when—

(a) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to 
the vote at the meeting, and 
(b) that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether or 
not such resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the 
other persons attending the meeting.

(3) The directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate 
to enable those attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak 
or vote at it.
(4) In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether 
any two or more members attending it are in the same place as each other.
(5) Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend 
a general meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to 
have) rights to speak and vote at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to 
exercise them.

21



Quorum for general meetings
24. No business other than the appointment of the chairman of the meeting is 
to be transacted at a general meeting if the persons attending it do not 
constitute a quorum.

Chairing general meetings

25.—(1) If the directors have appointed a chairman, the chairman shall chair 
general meetings if present and willing to do so.
(2) If the directors have not appointed a chairman, or if the chairman is 
unwilling to chair the meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time 
at which a meeting was due to start—

(a) the directors present, or
(b) (if no directors are present), the meeting,

must appoint a director or member to chair the meeting, and the appointment 
of the chairman of the meeting must be the first business of the meeting.
(3) The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this article is referred to 
as “the chairman of the meeting”.

Attendance and speaking by directors and non-members

26.—(1) Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not 
they are members.
(2) The chairman of the meeting may permit other persons who are not 
members of the company to attend and speak at a general meeting.

Adjournment

27.—(1) If the persons attending a general meeting within half an hour of the 
time at which the meeting was due to start do not constitute a quorum, or if 
during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the chairman of the meeting 
must adjourn it.
(2) The chairman of the meeting may adjourn a general meeting at which a 
quorum is present if—

(a) the meeting consents to an adjournment, or
(b) it appears to the chairman of the meeting that an adjournment is 
necessary to protect the safety of any person attending the meeting or 
ensure that the business of the meeting is conducted in an orderly 
manner.

(3) The chairman of the meeting must adjourn a general meeting if directed to 
do so by the meeting.
(4) When adjourning a general meeting, the chairman of the meeting must—

(a) either specify the time and place to which it is adjourned or state that it 
is to continue at a time and place to be fixed by the directors, and
(b) have regard to any directions as to the time and place of any 
adjournment which have been given by the meeting.

(5) If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place more than 14 
days after it was adjourned, the company must give at least 7 clear days’ 
notice of it (that is, excluding the day of the adjourned meeting and the day on 
which the notice is given)—

22



(a) to the same persons to whom notice of the company’s general 
meetings is required to be given, and
(b) containing the same information which such notice is required to 
contain.

(6) No business may be transacted at an adjourned general meeting which 
could not properly have been transacted at the meeting if the adjournment 
had not taken place.

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Voting: general

28. A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a 
show of hands unless a poll is duly demanded in accordance with the articles.

Errors and disputes

29.—(1) No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting 
at a general meeting except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the 
vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting is 
valid.
(2) Any such objection must be referred to the chairman of the meeting whose 
decision is final.

Poll votes

30.—(1) A poll on a resolution may be demanded—
(a) in advance of the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote, or
(b) at a general meeting, either before a show of hands on that resolution 
or immediately after the result of a show of hands on that resolution is 
declared.

(2) A poll may be demanded by—
(a) the chairman of the meeting;
(b) the directors;
(c) two or more persons having the right to vote on the resolution; or
(d) a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of the total 
voting rights of all the members having the right to vote on the resolution.

(3) A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if—
(a) the poll has not yet been taken, and
(b) the chairman of the meeting consents to the withdrawal.

(4) Polls must be taken immediately and in such manner as the chairman of 
the meeting directs.

Content of proxy notices

31.—(1) Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in writing (a “proxy 
notice”)
which—

(a) states the name and address of the member appointing the proxy;

23



(b) identifies the person appointed to be that member’s proxy and the 
general meeting in
relation to which that person is appointed;
(c) is signed by or on behalf of the member appointing the proxy, or is 
authenticated in such manner as the directors may determine; and
(d) is delivered to the company in accordance with the articles and any 
instructions contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they 
relate.

(2) The company may require proxy notices to be delivered in a particular 
form, and may specify different forms for different purposes.
(3) Proxy notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote 
(or that the proxy is to abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions.
(4) Unless a proxy notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as—

(a) allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how 
to vote on any ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting, and
(b) appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the 
general meeting to which it relates as well as the meeting itself.

Delivery of proxy notices

32.—(1) A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote (either on a show of 
hands or on a poll) at a general meeting remains so entitled in respect of that 
meeting or any adjournment of it, even though a valid proxy notice has been 
delivered to the company by or on behalf of that person.
(2) An appointment under a proxy notice may be revoked by delivering to the 
company a notice in writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on 
whose behalf the proxy notice was given.
(3) A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered 
before the start of the meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates.
(4) If a proxy notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it 
must be accompanied by written evidence of the authority of the person who 
executed it to execute it on the appointor’s behalf.

Amendments to resolutions

33.—(1) An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be 
amended by ordinary resolution if—

(a) notice of the proposed amendment is given to the company in writing 
by a person entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be 
proposed not less than 48 hours before the meeting is to take place (or 
such later time as the chairman of the meeting may determine), and
(b) the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the 
chairman of the meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution.

(2) A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended 
by ordinary resolution, if—

(a) the chairman of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general 
meeting at which the resolution is to be proposed, and
(b) the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a 
grammatical or other non-substantive error in the resolution.

24



(3) If the chairman of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that 
an amendment to a resolution is out of order, the chairman’s error does not 
invalidate the vote on that resolution.

25



PART 4

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

Means of communication to be used

34.—(1) Subject to the articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the 
company under the articles may be sent or supplied in any way in which the 
Companies Act 2006 provides for documents or information which are 
authorised or required by any provision of that Act to be sent or supplied by or 
to the company.
(2) Subject to the articles, any notice or document to be sent or supplied to a 
director in connection with the taking of decisions by directors may also be 
sent or supplied by the means by which that director has asked to be sent or 
supplied with such notices or documents for the time being.
(3) A director may agree with the company that notices or documents sent to 
that director in a particular way are to be deemed to have been received 
within a specified time of their being sent, and for the specified time to be less 
than 48 hours.

Company seals

35.—(1) Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the directors.
(2) The directors may decide by what means and in what form any common 
seal is to be used.
(3) Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if the company has a common 
seal and it is affixed to a document, the document must also be signed by at 
least one authorised person in the presence of a witness who attests the 
signature.
(4) For the purposes of this article, an authorised person is—

(a) any director of the company;
(b) the company secretary (if any); or

No right to inspect accounts and other records

36. Except as provided by law or authorised by the directors or an ordinary 
resolution of the company, no person is entitled to inspect any of the 
company’s accounting or other records or documents merely by virtue of 
being a member, although provision has been made for the Company to 
provide quarterly highlight reports and year-end reports to its founding 
member

Provision for employees on cessation of business
37. The directors may decide to make provision for the benefit of persons 
employed or formerly employed by the company or any of its subsidiaries 
(other than a director or former director or shadow director) in connection with 
the cessation or transfer to any person of the whole or part of the undertaking 
of the company or that subsidiary.

26



DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

Indemnity

38.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), a relevant director of the company or an 
associated company may be indemnified out of the company’s assets 
against—

(a) any liability incurred by that director in connection with any negligence, 
default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the company or an 
associated company,
(b) any liability incurred by that director in connection with the activities of 
the company or an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an 
occupational pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the 
Companies Act 2006),
(c) any other liability incurred by that director as an officer of the company 
or an associated company.

(2) This article does not authorise any indemnity which would be prohibited or 
rendered void by any provision of the Companies Acts or by any other 
provision of law.
(3) In this article—

(a) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both 
are subsidiaries of the same body corporate, and
(b) a “relevant director” means any director or former director of the 
company or an associated company.

Insurance

39.—(1) The directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the 
expense of the company, for the benefit of any relevant director in respect of 
any relevant loss.
(2) In this article—

(a) a “relevant director” means any director or former director of the 
company or an associated company,
(b) a “relevant loss” means any loss or liability which has been or may be 
incurred by a relevant director in connection with that director’s duties or 
powers in relation to the company, any associated company or any 
pension fund or employees’ share scheme of the company or associated 
company, and
(c) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both 
are subsidiaries of the same body corporate.

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance Manual
Revised September 2019

29

Appendix 2



CONTENTS 
1 Introduction 1

1.1 InvestSK 1
1.2 Governance Structure 2
1.3 Operational Structure 2
1.4 Key Governance Documents 3

2 Board of Directors 4

2.1 The Role of the Board of Directors 4
2.2 Structure and Operation of the Board 4
2.3 Marketing and Communications 4

3 Delegated Authority 5

3.1 Financial Regulations 5
3.2 Chief Executive – Delegated Responsibilities 7

4 Strategic Business Planning 10

5 Policies and Procedures 11

30



1 INTRODUCTION

This Governance Manual reflects and should be read in conjunction with the company’s:

 Memorandum of Association
 Articles of Association
 Employee Handbook

The intention of this Manual is to provide information and guidance to all directors and staff in order to 
support the provision of a competent and professional quality service. It also sets out the policies and 
procedures that ensure good governance practices within the Company, both at operational and 
strategic levels. 

The Manual is a constantly evolving document and InvestSK is continually seeking ways of being 
more efficient and improving our service. Everyone is encouraged to make any observations to the 
Chief Executive, both in terms of suggestions for improvement and comment on current governance 
and operational practice. 

This manual is confidential to InvestSK and its contents may not be discussed with or disclosed to 
anyone outside the company.

Proposed changes to this Governance Manual, should in the first instance be forwarded to the 
Assistant Chief Executive for consideration and approval.  Once approved they will be incorporated 
into the next issue which will require full board approval before becoming effective.  In the normal 
course of business there will be an annual review and update of this document.

1.1 InvestSK

Our vision is to drive and support the economic, cultural and social growth of South Kesteven, and 
establish InvestSK as a credible deliverer of that ambition.

InvestSK has been established as an arm’s length company of South Kesteven District Council to 
occupy a position within and among external partners from the private and third sectors, and link 
those back into the Council’s ambition. Operating in this arena, its aims are to ensure that the 
economy of South Kesteven continues to grow; that its citizens have access to an excellent quality of 
life, through cultural and place-making interventions; and that its citizens and businesses can access 
the right skills to deliver that growth. 

Whilst initial funding has been made available by South Kesteven District Council for InvestSK to 
recruit, establish its business and fund interventions, the company fully recognises that it has a 
responsibility to source alternative sources of funding to reduce the financial burden on the council 
and/or define more outcomes. 

The aims of InvestSK focus on delivering improvements in the following key areas:

Business Growth & Inward Investment Arts & Culture
Skills Development Heritage
Town Centres & Markets Visitor Economy
Place-Making & Regeneration Marketing
Community Funding

Operating aims of the company, are to be effective, efficient and accountable; while members of staff 
are encouraged to be creative and responsible, with clear aims to deliver outcomes for South 
Kesteven.

31



1.2 Governance Structure

1.3 Operational Structure

32



1.4 Key Governance Documents

A copy of all of the following documents are available from InvestSK’s Office Manager on request.

i) Articles of Association

InvestSK was registered as a company (private, limited by guarantee) on 13th June 2018 and has a 
company registration number 11413907. 

The Articles of Association were amended in 2019 to register InvestSK as a not for profit company. 

ii) Memorandum of Understanding

A Memorandum of Understanding has been signed by South Kesteven District Council and the board 
of directors for InvestSK. This agreement sets the terms and understanding between South Kesteven 
District Council (the Member) and InvestSK Limited (the company) as it delivers economic growth and 
place-making activities and services to the district of South Kesteven.  

The agreement was signed in August 2018 and runs until July 2021.

iii) Service Level Agreements for Core Services 

South Kesteven District Council offers core services to InvestSK as a wholly owned company of the 
local authority. These include IT, facilities and property management. These are reviewed on an 
annual basis.

iv) Employee Handbook

This document sets out all of the governing policies and procedures relating to employment within the 
Company.

v) External Contracts for Services 

External contracts for services delivered by InvestSK may require specific governance structures for 
the delivery of those services.

33



2 Board of Directors 

2.1 The Role of the Board of Directors

The board of directors of a company is primarily responsible for:

 Determining the company’s strategic objectives and policies
 Monitoring progress towards achieving the objectives and policies
 Ensuring the proper financial management of the company
 Appointing and managing the Chief Executive 
 Accounting for the company’s activities to relevant parties, e.g. shareholders.

2.2 Structure and Operation of the Board 

InvestSK is required to have a minimum of one Director and no maximum number of individual 
Directors is set. Directors should bear in mind the need to maintain a reasonable maximum number to 
ensure that decision making is robust and transparent.

A Chairman is elected by other members of the Board, who will lead board meetings and 
communicate regularly with the Chief Executive. The Chairman also has the casting vote in any 
decision making.

Decisions are taken on a majority basis. However, such a decision will only be valid where it is 
supported by at least one director who is an elected representative of the Member.

Directors will meet on a quarterly basis to discuss progress, assess risk, review financial performance 
and offer advice and guidance to the Chief Executive. In order to be quorate during these meetings, at 
least half the number of Directors currently on the Board must be present and able to vote.

The Company keeps a register of Declarations of Interest for Directors so that any conflicts of interest 
are noted in advance of all decision making and measures taken accordingly. 

Additional Directors are to be appointed within a board meeting by existing Board members.

Additional Member applications (if this ever arises) are subject to the consent of the existing Member 
and may be subject to conditions.

Annual General Meetings of the Company are held annually in June and must be attended by 
Directors and a Member representative. At this meeting, the annual audited accounts are reviewed 
and approved by Directors and the Member. 

The minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be drawn up and kept as a permanent 
record.  Given the commercially sensitive nature of many of InvestSK activities, these minutes shall 
have restricted access. The minutes of the meetings will be presented to the Board of Directors at the 
next meeting.

The Board of Directors will appoint a Company Secretary, who will be responsible for submitting 
annual accounts to Companies House and ensuring all corporate responsibilities and regulations are 
met. 

For additional information please refer to InvestSK’s Articles of Association.

2.3 Marketing and Communications

All marketing and promotion relating to the Board of Directors is to be approved by the Chairman in 
advance. 

The Chief Executive Officer leads on day to day communication with the Board of Directors and the 
Member of the Company. Other senior members of staff are asked to keep the Chief Executive 
informed of any communications to maintain an informed and transparent dialogue within the team.

34



3. Delegated Authority 

3.1 Financial Regulations

Delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive for financial management according to the 
following regulations:

i) Annual Budgets

 The Chief Executive shall be responsible for preparing and presenting an annual budget with 
sufficient information for approval and sign-off by the Board, prior to the start of the financial 
year.

 Significant budget alterations and deviations outside approved expenditure can only be by 
Board approval unless the Chief Executive and Chair have agreed the deviation or alterations 
and report it to the next Board meeting.

ii) Management Accounts

 Management accounts will be provided to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis.

 Management accounts presented to the Board of Directors will consist of:

- An Income Expenditure account
- An Actual vs. Budget statement for the quarter and a year to date statement with an 

explanation for significant variances
- An accounts receivable ageing summary
- A balance sheet
- Analyses of any other material or variances

The management accounts will be reviewed by the CEO prior to the Board Meeting.

iii) Control of Revenue budgets

 It shall be the duty of the Chief Executive to ensure that adequate controls and systems are in 
place for financial and accounting arrangements, the proper recording of all monies due to the 
Company, and the proper collection, custody, control and disposal of all cash.

 Details of all charges made for work done, services provided, or goods supplied by the 
Company and all other amounts due to the Company shall be notified to the Office Manager.

 Senior Managers are responsible for their individual budget and will manage expenditure on a 
day to day basis. Budgets will be reviewed at Senior Management Team meetings.

 If there is a cost saving on a particular Department Centre, the Senior Manager must obtain 
authorisation from the Chief Executive prior to relocating the funds to another area.  On the 
contrary, any overspend must be agreed with the Chief Executive prior to committing 
expenditure.

iv) Capital expenditure

 All projects, developments or items defined as capital expenditure with a £5,000 minimum will 
need an appraisal before approval by the Chief Executive and/or the Board.

 Capital expenditure projects in excess of £10,000 will require approval by the Board.

 All acquisitions of land and property require approval by the Board.

v) Loans and Investments

 All loans taken out by the Company require the approval of the Board.

 All investments outside normal Bank Accounts require the approval of the Board.

35



vi) Procurement 

 Senior Managers are able to procure goods, services and capital items up to £1,500 without 
authorisation from the Chief Executive, providing that this expenditure is included within their 
annual budget. Procurement above £1,500 requires authorisation from both the Chief 
Executive and the Senior Manager responsible for the budget allocation.

 InvestSK ensure value for money when procuring services or items and will seek following 
levels for tender.

 These rules note the following procurement thresholds:
- £0 - £10,000 – one quotation, direct approach to single supplier
- £10,001 - £50,000 - three written quotations based on a Request for Quotation document, 

unless an exception can be made
- Above £50,000 – four written quotations based on a Request for Quotation document, no 

exception
- Please note the EU procurement thresholds for Services, Supplies and Works and 

ensure that the OJEU process is followed.

 Tenders will be scored based on both quality of the tender, value for money and benefits to 
the local economy from procuring from local companies. 

vi) Payment of Invoices

 All invoices received, either as hard copy or e-mail attachment, shall be logged by the Office 
Manager who shall ensure as far as possible, that they are properly payable by the Company.  
A copy should be given to the relevant Senior Manager.  

 All invoices shall be matched for payment with the relevant purchase order, subject to 
approval as outlined above.  All invoices will be coded to the appropriate Department Code 
and Nominal Code where applicable. 

vii) Banking Arrangements

 The Chairman and Chief Executive jointly shall be authorised to initiate with InvestSK’s 
Bankers the opening and closure of such bank accounts as they think necessary. Ratification 
of bank account opening and closure and/or applications to vary the signatories of existing 
accounts shall require the Board approval.

 All instructions to the Bank shall be signed by an authorised bank signatory. Any amount over 
£50,000 will require authorisation from the Chairman of the board.

 Cheque books, bank statements and credit cards are to be held securely and used only by 
those authorised to make payments.

 The Chief Executive is authorised to arrange overdraft facilities with the bank in consultation 
with the Chair of the Board.

viii) Write Offs / Losses

 Sums due to the Company in excess of £500 shall not be written off without the prior approval 
of the Board.

 Sums of less than £500 may be written off by the Chief Executive and reported to the Board 
quarterly.  All write offs shall be entered on a register detailing the company, the amount, the 
reason and the date of the write off.

xi) Insurances

 The Chief Executive will ensure that professional indemnity, employer’s liability and public 
liability insurance cover are in place and will lead on negotiation for any claims. Senior 
Managers will undertake this role for any projects or initiatives managed by them.

 The Board will be kept informed of all major risks which require to be insured and of any 
significant material alterations affecting existing insurances. Insurance requirements relating 
to specific projects should be arranged by the Chief Executive and Senior Managers. 

36



 The Board will be kept informed of insurance cover on an annual basis.

x) Employee Salaries and Expenses

 The CEO has overall responsibility for Terms and Conditions of Employment for employees of 
InvestSK.

 The Board will approve the parameters within which pay awards should take place and 
material changes to the Conditions of Employment.

 The Board will approve the remuneration package for the Chief Executive will be involved in 
subsequent appointment.

 The Chief Executive will appoint staff and will undertake interviews and appointments in 
consultation with the relevant senior manager.

 The Board will approve all redundancy proposals and severance terms for the Chief 
Executive and Senior Team.

 The Chief Executive will authorise all contracts and amendments to terms and conditions 
within parameters of budget and the employee handbook.

 The payment of salaries and wages shall be approved by the Chief Executive or Assistant 
Chief Executive.

 All claims for payment of mileage and other expenses shall be approved by an employee’s 
line manager and payment of these expenses will be approved by the Chief Executive or 
Assistant Chief Executive.

3.2 Chief Executive – Delegated Responsibilities

Subject Reserved to the Board Delegated to – responsibility of 
the CEO

Corporate governance Consideration and approval of 
aspects of corporate 
governance, including 
principles of good governance, 
and appointments to 
committees.

All matters of organisational 
structure at operation level.
Delegation of authority to other 
senior employees.
Recruit staff, Company consultants 
and prepare and maintain a 
comprehensive scheme of 
delegation for the organisation.

Strategy Determining the overall 
strategic direction of the 
Company. Consideration and 
approval of the Company’s 
strategic business plan.
Consideration and approval of 
formal strategic partnerships 
with other organisations, 
following recommendation by 
CEO.

Preparation of the Company’s 
strategic plan for consideration and 
approval by the Board, ensuring 
early consultation with the Board.
Recommendations to the Board for 
formal strategic partnerships with 
other organisations.

Functions, powers and 
discretions (legal and 
administrative)

Strategic principles governing 
operational policy relating to 
the exercise of the Company’s 
functions, powers and 
discretions.

Exercise of all the Company’s legal 
and administrative powers and 
discretions in furtherance of 
statutory functions, subject to 

37



Subject Reserved to the Board Delegated to – responsibility of 
the CEO

escalating any high risk/high impact 
issues to Directors.

Corporate plans and 
budget

Consideration and approval of 
the Company’s works plans 
and annual budgets.

Preparation of work plans and 
annual budgets in line with the 
Company’s strategic business plan, 
ensuring early consultation with the 
Board.

 Variations to the approved 
budget where the variation 
would have a significant impact 
on the overall approved levels 
of income and expenditure.

Variations to the approved budget 
where the variation would not have a 
significant impact on the overall 
approved levels of income and 
expenditure. 
Please also note the Financial 
Regulations outlined above.

Annual report and 
accounts

Approval of annual report and 
accounts, in conjunction with 
the Auditor, with reference to 
any recommendations offered.

Drawing up the annual report for 
board approval.
Drawing up annual accounts for 
Board approval.

Audit issues Appointing both the internal 
auditors and approval of 
changes to auditors’ overall 
terms of appointment.

Responsibility for management of 
relationships with internal and 
external auditors.

Corporate/operational 
performance 
management

Determination and approval of 
arrangements for performance 
management and 
consideration of regular 
monitoring reports.

Informing the Board of progress in 
achieving performance objectives 
and advising of any significant 
variance from the approved 
operating plans and budget.
Informing the Board of any 
significant issues in the operation of 
the Company.

Risk management Approval of the Company’s risk 
register and mitigation 
strategies. Ownership of the 
risks associated with the 
operation of the company.

Maintaining the risk register and 
ensuring that the mitigation 
strategies are actioned. Delegating 
to other senior staff as appropriate.  
Advising the Board of any material 
change to the risk register. 
Escalation of issues for 
consideration by the Board in 
accordance with the Company’s risk 
management strategy.

People issues Approval of significant changes 
to overall HR policy, including 
staff terms and conditions of 
employment, and structure of 
the Company.

Responsible for management of 
staff, delegating line management to 
senior managers and working with 
an external HR consultant. 

38



Subject Reserved to the Board Delegated to – responsibility of 
the CEO

Lead on recruitment for all staff 
underneath the CEO.
Escalation of issues for 
consideration of the Board in relation 
to the Discipline and Grievance 
procedures. 

 Approval of any cost of living 
salary increases and 
renumeration of the CEO.

Responsible for renumeration of all 
staff within the salary structure set 
by the Board.

 Significant 
publications

Approval, in good time before 
publication, in the case of 
significant publications, of the 
content including the key 
messages, and the plan for 
communication and 
implementation.

Publishing significant publications in 
accordance with the Board’s 
approval.

Communication issues Approval of communication 
strategy and plans in relation to 
matters of major public, 
political or reputational 
significance.

In consultation with the Chair as 
appropriate, signing off all press 
releases and other statements 
where the statement is on a matter 
of major public, political or 
reputational significance.
Identifications of significant issues to 
be considered by the Board.

Company 
administration

The cycle of Board meetings, 
the composition of Board 
agendas and approval of 
minutes of Board meetings.

Ensuring adequate resources are 
available for the functioning of an 
effective Board secretariat. 
Board Secretary to be appointed 
subject to Chair approval and to be 
provided with administrative support.

GDPR GDPR Policy and Guidance.
Review of Retention and 
Disposal Register. 

Ensuring that the Retention and 
Disposal Register is kept up to date 
and advise staff on requirements. 
Respond to FOI requests that are 
submitted to South Kesteven District 
Council 

39



4 InvestSK – Strategic Business Planning

InvestSK as a not for profit company is only recently established and the board is working closely with 
the Chief Executive and Senior Management Team to consolidate progress to date and to embed 
good governance practices.

The following plan shows the stages needed to reach a sustainable position and to continue to meet 
the vision of the company for its Member in the future.

A strategic business plan for the period of 2019-22 has been adopted by the Board of Directors and 
approved by the member. This includes information about the individual work plans of the thematic 
priorities noted above and allows InvestSK to measure performance and demonstrate impact.

Performance management targets are also contained within the Memorandum of Understanding with 
South Kesteven District Council.

40



5 Company Policies and Procedures

Ref Policy/Procedure
GOVERNANCE

Equal Opportunities

Safeguarding

Anti-Slavery

Raising a Concern at Work

Environmental Protection

Corporate Social Responsibility

EMPLOYMENT
01 Maternity
02 Paternity

03 Adoption

04 Flexible Working

05 Parental Leave

06 Time Off for Dependants

07 Alcohol and Drugs

08 Managing Stress

11 Managing Absence at Work

15 Homeworking

18 Working Alone – Personal Safety

21 Shared Parental Leave

23 Privacy Notice for Current and Former Employees

Training and Development

Holiday 

Sickness 

Telephone & Mobile 

Disciplinary

Grievance

Capability

Bullying and Harassment

No smoking

Dress Code & Appearance

41



OPERATIONAL

Health & Safety at Work

Fire Safety

12 Display Screen Equipment

16 Manual Handling at Work

IT

20 Social Media

22
Managing the Risk of Cyber Attacks in the 
Workplace

24 Managing the Risk of Slavery in the Workplace 

Control of contractors

Complaints 

Record Retention & Disposal

Quality Assurance

Recruitment of Ex Offenders

Use of Photographs

Volunteer Policy

42



43

Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



GRANTS OVERVIEW

Grant Area Description Grant 

Enabler

Grant 

Assessor

Decision 

Panel

Awarded to 

Date

Pending

Decision

Budget 

Remaining

Heritage 

Alive Grants

Awarded to local 

groups for 

Inspiration 

events (>£500), 

Interpretation 

(>£200), or 

Intervention 

(>£4,000).

Claire Saunders

Heritage Regen 

Officer, iSK

Alison Berwick

Community 

Funding 

Development 

Manager, iSK

Cabinet 

Member Arts & 

Culture; 

SKDC CEO; 

iSK CEO

2018/19 –

£57,199

2019/20 –

£23,587

£25,929 £484 

(potential 

reclaim of 

£1488 

underspend)

(>£4,000).

Small Arts 

Grants

Awarded to local 

creatives to 

enable growth: 

>£500 for 

individuals; 

>£1,500 for 

groups.

Jo Dobbs

Arts 

Development 

Officer

Michael Cross 

Head of Arts & 

Alison Berwick

Cabinet 

Member Arts & 

Culture; 

SKDC CEO; 

iSK CEO

2018-19 -

£12,269

(includes £5625 

c/f)

2019-20

£4750 

£10,000 

plus

£3625 (from b/f

balance)

Town Centre 

Investment 

Fund

>£10k for local 

companies to 

grow their 

business into 

empty town 

centre units, 

adding value to 

‘high street’ offer

Jon Hinde

Head of 

Economy & 

Skills

Steve Bowyer

CEO, iSK

Cabinet 

Member 

Growth; 

Leader; Deputy 

Leader

£37,136

£10,000 ring 

fenced for 4 

towns

£39,307 £13,557 

(assuming £50k 

for 2019/20 

received from 

SKDC)

45

A
ppendix 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



47

Appendix 5



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



BUSINESS PLAN

2019-22

‘DELIVERING GROWTH FOR ALL’

V2 280319

63

Appendix 6



CONTENTS

Page

1.0 Executive Summary 2

2.0 Vision & Aims 3

3.0 Review & Achievements 3

4.0 Future Plan 5

5.0 Finance Plan & Budget 9

6.0 Governance 10

7.0 Strategic Relationships 10

8.0 Staff Development 11

9.0 Risks & Challenges 12

10.0 Conclusion 12

64



1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This business plan covers a 3-year period from 1 April 2019, reflecting budget submissions to its 
founder and sole Member, South Kesteven District Council. Although it encompasses a period to 31 
March 2022, its initial focus, as required by its Member, is for the forthcoming 2019-20 financial 
year. The wider timespan does, however, provide the opportunity to set out the longer term 
ambitions of the company.

Fundamentally, InvestSK was established, in 2018, to drive economic, cultural and social growth in 
South Kesteven, for the benefit of all its citizens. Its status as a not-for-profit, arm’s length company 
was to enable it to operate more freely in and among private and third sector parties, and build 
credibility in that arena. These are reflected in its over-arching vision:

To drive and support the economic, cultural and social growth of South Kesteven, and establish 
InvestSK as a credible deliverer of that ambition.

The principles behind the approach for the company are reasoned and stepped – leading to 
increased self-sufficiency and reducing the financial burden on the Member:

 Establishment    

 Quick win engagement for credibility  

 Capacity growth & consolidation   

 Commercialisation & alternative funding routes.

The company has established a number of key principles, to steer its organisational attitude:

 It is an ‘outcome-focused’ organisation – although it will always be conscious of its 
accountability and budgetary responsibilities, it is focused on identifying the most impactful 
outcomes possible from the funding available.

 Its personnel are encouraged to be creative and dynamic, ensuring that they are both 
respectful and responsible: eg that they respect their colleagues’ viewpoints, and are 
responsible for delivering what they have said they will.

 InvestSK is a proactive, externally-facing organisation, which as well as taking responsibility 
for delivery also appreciates the opportunities for others to deliver the overall agenda (eg 
private sector developers or businesses).

 It is collaborative and a connector, and will use its connections and commercial acumen to 
reduce the financial burden on its sole Member.

InvestSK has a very broad agenda, reflecting South Kesteven’s ambition and vision. For a relatively 
young company, the pace of delivery and expectations around that can create risks to its credibility, 
but as this business plan illustrates, it is already building credibility, and housing these diverse 
disciplines into a single entity, can only create new opportunities across the board: for outcomes and 
financial sustainability.

Steve Bowyer
CEO
10th February 2019

65



2.0 VISION & AIMS

To drive and support the economic, cultural and social growth of South Kesteven, and establish 
InvestSK as a credible deliverer of that ambition.

InvestSK has been established as an arm’s length company of South Kesteven District Council to 
occupy a position within and among external partners from the private and third sectors, and link 
those back into the Council’s ambition. 

Operating in this arena, its aims are to ensure that the economy of South Kesteven continues to 
grow; that its citizens have access to an excellent quality of life, through cultural and place-making 
interventions; and that its citizens and businesses can access the right skills to deliver that growth. 

Whilst initial funding has been made available by South Kesteven District Council for InvestSK to 
recruit, establish its business and fund interventions, the company fully recognises that it has a 
responsibility to source alternative sources of funding to reduce the financial burden on the council 
(this is set out in more detail below in the section ‘Future Plan’).

The aims of InvestSK focus on delivering improvements in the following key areas:

Business Growth & Inward Investment Arts & Culture
Skills Development Heritage
Town Centres & Markets Visitor Economy
Place-Making & Regeneration Marketing
Community Funding

Operating aims of the company, are to be effective, efficient and accountable; while members of 
staff are encouraged to be creative and responsible, with clear aims to deliver outcomes for South 
Kesteven.

3.0 REVIEW & ACHIEVEMENTS

Elements of the InvestSK model have been operating as a ‘brand’ since late 2017, under contract 
through Opportunity Peterborough or with staff being secured through the council. During 2018, 
more staff have been recruited and the company was formally established in July 2018, becoming 
operational from the end of September 2018.

The company now has a total headcount of 16, of whom 8 are fully employed by the company, and 8 
of whom are on formal secondment from the council. In addition, 1 member of SKDC staff has been 
partly allocated to supporting InvestSK, and a temporary freelance contractor has been engaged to 
support short-term cultural activities.

Annual turnover for 2018/19 is anticipated to be in the region of £1,192,000; but it should be noted 
that significant elements of this sum will be directly disbursed as grant funding or will be committed 
income for 2019/20 to deliver projects identified in this year, but not yet executed.

The company has a board of 3 non-executive directors, made up of the Leader, Deputy Leader and 
CEO of the council. The board meets on average quarterly, with its remit to review the delivery 

66



programme of the company, its financial and budgetary management, and any other operational 
issues, and to direct and steer the future progress of the company.

Since being established, InvestSK has built up considerable credibility with local and wider 
stakeholders, providing valuable support and input, and transforming perceptions of both South 
Kesteven and South Kesteven District Council in the process.

This is most notably evidenced in the support of local businesses and the strong engagement with 
them from the InvestSK team – or as one company leader recorded: the difference between 
business support prior to and following the establishment of InvestSK is like night and day. The 
confidence in the local business community is also demonstrated in the popularity of the quarterly 
networking breakfasts which have recorded attendance figures of 40+, 55+, and 80+. Equally well-
supported was the annual Economic Summit at Grimsthorpe Castle with over 100 delegates 
attending to listen to the development of South Kesteven’s vision and ambition.

In practical terms, InvestSK has provided vital support to local businesses – either directly through 
advice and advocacy, or in sign-posting to assistance from the LEP and other organisations. The 
recent launch of the Town Centre Investment Fund is already attracting significant interest among 
local businesses looking to grow and expand into empty shop units.

In terms of new investment, InvestSK led the delegation to MIPIMUK in the autumn, and is co-
ordinating two major economic growth issues: the development of an LDO (Local Development 
Order) to bring forward 200 acres of employment land at Gonerby Moor; and establishing a 
collaborative partnership to tackle energy challenges in Grantham’s southern quadrant. 

There have been challenges over this period: the availability of property and/or land, is putting 
pressure on those companies locally looking to expand. Where this available, there is a clear 
appetite to grow: the relocation of Brite Lite Solutions and the proposed development of the Slype in 
Bourne are both testament to that. However, while the loss of RDP from Stamford to Essendine will 
most likely mean that jobs are still retained in the locality, it is a loss of business rates, and other 
constrained companies may relocate further afield. 

Other areas of activity and engagement by InvestSK have proved equally successful and popular. The 
Visitor Economy Team has established an excellent network across the attractions in South Kesteven 
and the developed the key infrastructure to support their success. A series of forums have been 
delivered to enable the sharing of best practice and new business opportunities, alongside the 
development of a promotional film, interactive website, impressive new visitor guide and the early 
stages of enhanced social media activity. The team has also showcased South Kesteven at a range of 
external events, including a national expo in London for the touring industry.

New initiatives around heritage, arts and culture have also been warmly welcomed. The Heritage 
Alive! website has been developed to provide useful links and resources for local heritage groups, 
and its associated grant funding scheme was almost fully subscribed within 3 months of its launch. 
Direct support has been lent to the ambitious St Wulfram’s ‘Sacred Space Common Ground’ project, 
with a new relationship with the National Trust identifying new opportunities for Grantham House’s 
use. On a more strategic level, excellent relationships with key stakeholders, such as Historic England 
and the Heriage Lottery Fund, have been established, offering new routes to funding and support.

67



The Head of Arts has also led a number of key outreach initiatives: supporting local groups on 
programme content and development; generating new creative opportunities; developing a new 
funding scheme; and commencing a major district-wide consultation exercise, which is proving both 
exciting and inspirational. The practical input from the team has already been appreciated in events 
or organisations as diverse as the Deepings Literary Festival, rural village hall events, drama and 
dance groups, and content development of Stamford’s Georgian Festival (2019). With the recent 
recruitment of development officers in arts, and sports and physical activity, this intervention rate 
will only increase.

There has also been a significant improvement in the markets of Grantham and Bourne, with an 
increase in stall numbers, a refurbishment of stall presentation, and a diversification of the offer in 
both locations. Stamford market continues to thrive with minor improvements made to its 
operations, and the reconfiguration of adjoining car parks generating 60 new spaces for those 
visiting the town. In Market Deeping, a scoping and development exercise has been undertaken to 
develop a new market at the centre of the town.

The external-facing role of InvestSK is perhaps exemplified in its role supporting community funding 
projects, and over 30 local organisations have received direct support, advice and capacity building 
information around potential funding routes and how applications should be presented. 

A new scheme of wayfinding has been devised and developed for the market towns as a ‘quick win’ 
to encourage local civic pride in the place, and further work is being undertaken on the major 
Grantham Implementation Plan. InvestSK continues to provide advice and support around a range of 
place-making and development initiatives.

One area that has not seen the anticipated rate of delivery, perhaps, is Skills Development, where 
the absence of a budget precluded the recruitment of essential capacity. However, activity was still 
maintained through connections with the Skills Service (a funded team operating out of Opportunity 
Peterborough), and over the year around 1,200 engagements have been held between businesses 
and young people in schools. InvestSK also led the bid to secure £2M from the GLLEP towards a 
university centre at the heart of Grantham. With a development officer now recruited, and a summit 
secured for March 2019, activities around this agenda are already beginning to ramp up.

In conclusion, therefore, although this was a busy ‘year’ for InvestSK, it is only the start of the 
journey. The company has established strong credibility with local groups and wider stakeholders, 
the aim now is to convert into major interventions in the year ahead.

4.0 FUTURE PLAN

4.1 Overview

With the recruiting of a CEO to the company in September 2018, a clear strategy for InvestSK has 
been developed. Effectively, the development and growth of the company will follow a clear 
stepped process, which will see the expansion of alternative funding and commercialisation in the 
second half of the 2019/20 financial year, with the early months’ of the company’s existence used to 
establish the company’s operations, and credibility – ensuring the company has the foundations to 

68



succeed, is seen to be a deliverer, but does not relax on the need to generate alternative revenue 
sources.

InvestSK Development Strategy:

 Establishment    

 Quick win engagement for credibility  

 Capacity growth & consolidation   

 Commercialisation & alternative funding routes.

The first two Quarters of the 2019-20 financial year will focus on securing and consolidating all 
thematic areas of responsibility within InvestSK’s remit. It must focus on these to ensure delivery 
meets expectations, and so secure the credibility the company requires not only to survive but also 
to make it an attractive ‘partner of choice’ for commercialisation, membership or funding routes. It 
should be remembered that InvestSK’s biggest asset is the skills base of its staff – this can be utilised 
in commercial contracts and to satisfy funding requirements. The robust credibility of the company 
and its activities may also attract sponsorship and membership organisation opportunities.

During the second half of the year, InvestSK will, therefore, identify and target those areas which it 
considers offer the best prospects for income. This will be a growing an emerging range of income 
generation activities, including but not limited to:

 Business membership scheme models & sponsorship
 New grant funding streams and the administration or delivery of those
 Selling of services to neighbouring authorities.

It is absolutely vital that the focus on delivering outcomes in South Kesteven remains undiminished, 
as this would otherwise reduce the company’s credibility (engendering a vicious circle rather 
virtuous cycle of sustainability and viability). As such, exploring these routes of income generation 
will be carefully assessed and monitored for resource implications.

4.2 2019/20 Delivery Plan

Detailed delivery plans for each area of activity in InvestSK have been prepared and are appended as 
APPENDIX 1 (Annexes i-ix) to the Business Plan. Following the adoption of the Business Plan, these 
work plans will then form the basis of a programme reporting model for the InvestSK Board. The 
intention is not to repeat the contents of those individual plans here; merely to ensure that through 
this mechanism each will integrate with the others to ensure that inter-discipline engagement is 
maximised.

The priorities for each area can be summarised as follows:

69



Economic Development Ensure appropriate property and land is available for business growth 
& investment.
Develop and secure new business hubs within the district.
Develop improved liaison with key partners, such as GLLEP, and seek 
to simplify routes to support.
Increase inward investment awareness of South Kesteven through 
campaigns, editorials etc.

Skills Establish apprenticeship broker, networks and online portal models.
Develop and maintain a solution around work-readiness for young 
people. 
Undertake business skills auditing & planning.
Secure Grantham University Centre and market demand.

Arts & Culture Roll-out public engagement on Cultural Conversation.
Conclude Cultural Strategy.
Develop wide-reaching programme of arts activities, within towns 
and rural locations.
Develop plans for, and implement, physical infrastructure to support 
arts delivery in the towns (eg Stamford Arts Centre; Grantham 
Guildhall; Bourne Corn Exchange).

Heritage Develop Heritage Action Zone proposals.
Develop plan for Heritage Skills Centre, and explore funding routes & 
implementation.
Deliver key heritage regeneration projects.
Promote Heritage Alive! and Steering Group activities.
Information and advocacy sessions in Stamford (Article 4 Direction 
response) and among rural churches.

Visitor Economy Expand attractions network forums and membership.
Move Visitor Guide closer to self-funding model.
Instigate external marketing campaigns if budgets permit.
Support CiCLE Festival, and launch of Explorers Road (A1).

Markets & Town Centres Develop clear improvement plans for each market and source funding 
appropriately.
Delivery of improvement interventions.
Build relationships with retailers and support networks, campaigns.

Community Funding Focus on capacity building, through advice sessions and surgeries.
Expand accessibility, through notifications and online functionality, 
for GrantFinder.

Place-Making & 
Regeneration

Complete wayfinding scheme.
Develop public realm improvement scheme (with LCC).
Secure Future High Streets Fund bid.
Support and partner DSK, Gravitas, SKDC Growth Team.
Identify next phase interventions.

70



In addition to these individual activity area plans, the following high level strategic plan for the 
company itself will be implemented:

Quarter 1 Sign-off the 2018/19 accounts & complete ‘annual’ review; recruitment 
of independent directors to the iSK Board; scoping of sponsorship 
opportunities; completing staff recruitment to meet capacity 
requirements; securing major funding support (eg Sth Lincs Skills 
Development model; Future High Streets Fund; Heritage Action Zones); 
explore service contracts with key partners (eg Gravitas; DSK).

Quarter 2 Planning for Autumn summit; continuing bid rounds for funding & 
contracting where secured; expanding strategic reach into central 
government and other key partners; contract with key partners (eg 
Gravitas; DSK) for supply of services.

Quarter 3 Launch membership scheme for iSK; explore contracts with neighbouring 
authorities; half-year business review; probable relocation to new 
offices.

Quarter 4 Develop business plan for following year; provide services to 
neighbouring  authorities in a number of key areas (eg Visitor Economy; 
Culture) where credibility is strong and alternative provision is not in 
place.

Achievement of work plan goals and overall strategic direction of the company will be measured 
through the quarterly board meetings (see ‘Governance’ below).

4.3 Income Generation

During 2019/20 Financial Year, InvestSK will proactively explore alternative income streams to 
reduce the reliance on SKDC funding and the public purse. This will be undertaken in a measured 
way so as not to undermine the delivery of the company’s core remit through distracting capacity. 
There will be three main areas to explore:

Sponsorship / Membership

Although there are risks inherent in seeking commercial support from local companies too early in 
InvestSK’s existence, its credibility has been building consistently and a model for event sponsorship 
income and membership models will be exploited in the second half of the financial year (relating to 
and building off the key autumn summit).

Funding

InvestSK will increase its focus on attracting funding for elements of its remit, which will include 
contributions to overheads of the company; for example, the Future High Streets fund. It will be 
important, however, to align funding bids to the strategic direction of the company, rather than vice 
versa, which can lead to counter-productive ‘cash-chasing’.

71



Commercial Contracts

InvestSK’s greatest strength is the skills base and expertise of its team. As such, and without 
impacting on the capacity required to deliver against InvestSK’s very reason for existing (the growth 
and prosperity of South Kesteven), its staff will be encouraged to explore opportunities for selling 
their skills sets. Whilst the obvious route for this will be neighbouring local authorities, other 
contracting opportunities may arise (eg funding administration across a wider geography) and 
involvement in these will be based on a commercial return basis.

4.4 2020-2022 Outline

The plans for subsequent years are that the programme delivery areas will deepen their impact – eg 
arts will have a stronger and deeper performance programme; strategic heritage action zone 
interventions will be underway; the visitor economy message will be present at major locations 
nationally to draw in a wider catchment area; markets will have a more diverse offer; land and 
property solutions will be coming forward to enable major inward investment campaigns to be 
launched on the assumption of projects being able to land; skills development will include significant 
resource investment in higher education activity in South Kesteven (degrees, and degree 
apprenticeships).

Over these years, the early work of engagement with authorities and other partners will be further 
consolidated and expanded as part of the ‘business as usual’ model for InvestSK to ensure the 
company’s growing self-sufficiency and viability. 

By 2020, InvestSK will have considerable reputation as a ‘partner of choice’ and will be working 
closely with a range of strategic partners regionally, nationally, and internationally.

In these later years, as well as deepening involvement and expanding income generation 
opportunities, InvestSK will also look to diversify its role to exploit other areas of its skills base: for 
example, supporting and advising on the development of Grantham’s Garden Village as a ‘smart 
community’, or developing Circular Economy models to underpin enhanced environment 
performance within the area.

5.0 FINANCIAL PLAN & BUDGETS

The budgets for the next 3 years are contained in APPENDIX 2. These were submitted as part of the 
2018/19 SKDC budget rounds. Unfortunately, the detailed breakdowns were never considered 
through the budgeting process, and rounded figures have been adopted for 2019/20 and indicatively 
for the years following. The original 2019/20 budget prepared by InvestSK has been amended to 
reflect SKDC budget resolutions; future years have not been altered at this stage, pending further 
budget discussions in future years with SKDC .

The purpose of this more detailed breakdown was to show the impact on InvestSK budgets through, 
for example, rent and other FM costs being levied. On the basis that these are not charged, the 
overall budget will balance; if they are to be charged and income is not to be forthcoming, then a 
slight deficit will result.

72



With regard to programme funding, it should be remembered that InvestSK is a not-for-profit 
organisation. As such all funding will be committed to projects either within year or to support the 
subsequent year’s activities. Reserves will not be built up, unless it is deemed necessary by the 
founder Member to mitigate any liabilities and costs relating to company wind-up. Reserves of this 
nature, however, where they are clearly not deferred income against specific project, may be liable 
to corporation tax payments. As such, the Member may decide to hold small reserves itself to cover 
any potential liabilities of this nature.

Quarterly Management Accounts will be produced for review at the following board meeting. These 
will consist of P&L account, balance sheet, and P&L against programme areas. Full year accounts will 
be audited in preparation for the AGM in July.

6.0 GOVERNANCE

InvestSK’s Board of Directors will be responsible for signing off the company’s business plan, and for 
monitoring progress against the commissioning body’s required outcomes. It will hold the CEO and 
Executive to account, and direct the priorities for the company.

Over the course of 2019/20 it is anticipated that InvestSK’s Board will be expanded from its current 
3, solely SKDC, directors, to a further 3-4 directors from external businesses and other organisations. 
It is intended that these will come onto the board over a period of time, rather than all at once, and 
that they will reflect the diverse responsibilities of the company’s remit.

As the company’s functions are funded and directly commissioned by its sole Member, InvestSK’s 
funding is dependent upon the soundness of its business plan. This plan has been devised, therefore, 
in a way that is easily accessible, transparent, and clearly reflects the expected outcomes set by the 
Member.

The importance of Cabinet portfolio holders for specific activity areas is also recognised and 
acknowledged, and all staff will be required to engage positively and proactively with their relevant 
portfolio holder. In the event of any issues arising, these can be escalated to the CEO and/or 
Chairman.

Additional governance arrangements will be put in place for specific programmes or projects as and 
when required; for example, the disbursement of grants under a particular scheme, where a panel 
approach with differing perspectives and responsibilities would be useful.

7.0 STRATEGIC RELATIONSHIPS

In delivering its remit, InvestSK will continue to build its relationships with SKDC and neighbouring 
authority areas, and parish and town councils. There are also a number of key strategic partners with 
whom we should engage to deliver our strategic growth aspirations. Although a lot of good work has 
already been done in this arena, this will form priorities within objectives for staff for the 
forthcoming year, in their development reviews. An indicative outline of key partnerships to be 
secured is provided below:

73



General: Lincolnshire County Council; GLLEP; Govt Departments.

Economic Growth: as ‘General’; DIT; Chambers of Commerce.

Skills: as ‘General’; Careers Enterprise Company; ESFA.

Place-making: as ‘General’; Historic England; Design Council; Homes England.

Arts & Culture: Arts Council England; Sport England; National Trust.

Heritage: Historic England; National Lottery Heritage Fund (formerly HLF); NT.

Visitor Economy: Visit Britain - England.

Town Centres: NABMA (National Association of British Market Authorities).

Staff will be measured against tangible benefits secured from these key partnerships.

8.0 STAFF DEVELOPMENT

InvestSK has been fortunate in recruiting a high calibre of personnel across all of its areas. The staff 
are not only highly skilled in their own disciplines, but are highly motivated and passionate about 
their ability to make a difference – they are as invested in the place, South Kesteven, as they are the 
company or council, which is to be commended and encouraged.

To reflect that, there are a number of principles to underpin engagement with staff:

 Performance development reviews will be held in March to set clear objectives for the year 
ahead. These objectives will be based solidly on the individual work plans for the areas of 
activity.

 Training opportunities will be encouraged and supported. Where these need to be paid 
routes, that support will come from the contingency built into the initial budget.

 Membership fees for professional institutions will be paid for by company up to a maximum 
of £250 per member of staff.

 Seconded staff will be invited to join the InvestSK complement and align with InvestSK’s HR 
processes and policies.

In only a small team like InvestSK, progression routes and promotion are not always entirely obvious. 
As such, staff retention will be secured through developing engaging and challenging work 
programmes which will develop the skills sets of the individuals.

9.0 RISKS & CHALLENGES

74



A fundamental challenge for InvestSK is that it is ‘the new kid on the block’. As such, it can be 
perceived as being a challenger itself to some organisations, or an irrelevance to others. Combining a 
collaborative approach, with a credibility and determination to deliver South Kesteven’s ambitions, 
will help to address those challenges. 

Risks need to be considered at both the programme level and the corporate level. Individual risk 
areas are identified in the work plans contained in Annex 1. The table below sets out higher level 
strategic risks for the company.

RISK AREA DESCRIPTION LIKELIHOOD 
(/5)

IMPACT
(/5)

SCORE MITIGATION

Lack of 
support from 
Member

Political support 
diminishes, 
reducing funding 
& ability to 
deliver.

1 5 5 Maintain delivery, 
company profile & 
Member engagement.

Lack of 
support from 
key partners 
(eg LCC/ 
GLLEP)

Funding support & 
collaboration 
diminishes, 
reducing project 
viability & iSK 
reputation.

2 3 6 Maintain positive 
collaboration with 
partners; seek alternative 
funding / delivery support 
to ensure reputation.

Macro-
economic 
impacts

Hard / 
unsatisfactory 
BREXIT, and/or 
different Govt 
priorities hinder 
economic growth 
& investor 
confidence.

1 4 4 Little that iSK can directly 
do to address unforeseen 
impacts, but some 
mitigation can be secured 
through stronger 
collaboration with 
business community to 
prepare accordingly.

Low staff 
retention 

Lack of certainty 
over iSK future 
encourages staff 
to look for jobs 
elsewhere.

1 4 4 Maintain iSK viability 
through credibility; which 
in turn will boost staff 
morale and encourage 
retention. 

Low public 
perception of 
iSK

Media coverage 
underplays impact 
of iSK – making it 
harder to deliver 
schemes locally.

1 3 3 Ensure positive coverage 
through wide range of 
channels.

10.0 CONCLUSION

This is a hugely exciting time for South Kesteven, and InvestSK is now well enough established to 
play its part in delivering against the area’s bold ambitions. More capacity does need to be secured 
in certain areas – such as place-making & regeneration – but that will come over this plan period.

75



The company’s key assets are undoubtedly the skill sets of its team, and as the team embeds itself 
and grows its delivery programme, it will be able to diversify and explore new opportunities for 
funding and self-sustainability – either through grants or selling services.

This plan articulates a clear development programme for the company: one which is both realistic 
and pragmatic in its prioritisation and focus in its early phase, but also conscious of the company’s 
requirements to grow its own funding streams. These will only be secured if InvestSK is a respected 
and credible partner: that credibility will be built on the capacity of the team to deliver and build 
confidence, in both the company, and South Kesteven.

76



INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                         Annex i

DETAILED WORK PLAN: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

AIM

To provide an infrastructure that fully understands and supports the start up, retention and growth 
of new and existing businesses within the District. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

2018/19 was very much about engaging with the local business community many of whom had 
indicated a need to move out of the District in order to fulfil their business growth requirements.

The decision of these businesses to look outside of the District was founded on a perceived lack of 
support from the public sector in working with the businesses to identify and bring forward local 
solutions. This is where the bulk of the activity has taken place in building a relationship with these 
businesses – providing assurances that the local partnerships exist that can help meet their growth 
ambitions and more importantly that this can be achieved through remaining within South Kesteven.

InvestSK are working with around 40 businesses at any one time that are looking to grow their 
operation within the District. In the majority of cases the support required by the business is the 
identification of appropriate land and property to meet their growth requirements and this where 
InvestSK has had greatest involvement during 2018/19.

Through developing strong relationships with a number of property agents, landowners, developers 
and landlords we are now able to present a far more comprehensive picture of the land and 
property supply across the District, rather than previously when it was almost entirely SKDC assets 
being promoted. Furthermore, this more detailed research undertaken and knowledge building can 
provide a more comprehensive support package from a wider range of partners and intermediaries.

By making ourselves available to businesses, listening to and acting upon their needs and wants and 
at the same time building such a strong network of contacts and support organisations we are now 
extremely well placed to offer ourselves as the ‘gateway’ organisation for all business support 
requirements across the District. Moving forward into 2019/20 we will prioritise the marketing and 
communicating of our services and collateral required to promote our services and the relevant 
sites, property etc. A lot of this will be informed by the achievements identified in 2018/19:

 Directly engaged with over 100 local businesses looking to stay and grow in SK
 Worked with private sector land owners and developers to identify and promote nationally 

over 300 acres of employment land
 Delivered ‘InvestSK Business Breakfasts’ in 3 of our market towns to an audience of over 80 

local businesses per event
 Showcase local businesses through marketing, promotion, spotlight presentations and 

ministerial visits
 Work with start-up businesses to access the most relevant advice and funding support
 Create a local property forum to share best practise and identify relevant solutions 
 Take South Kesteven out of the District to promote inward investment opportunities 
 To be recognised by GLLEP and DiT as an area able to respond positively to international 

investment enquiries
 Bringing forward a capital grant fund to support the take up of empty retail units across the 

4 market town centres

77



Building on these achievements the priorities are clearly to maintain the very high levels of activity 
and engagement and to remain equally as responsive to the needs of existing businesses and 
prospective inward investors.

Having worked hard to identify the relevant land supply that can support our business growth 
ambitions it is vital that we prioritise the bringing forward of these sites and support wherever 
possible through unlocking planning matters, utility restrictions, infrastructure and ownership issues 
and feeding the pipeline of enquiries that provide the confidence necessary for the landowners and 
developers to move at the pace required. Furthermore we need to continue to identify additional 
land and property and continue to engage fully with private sector providers that can help meet the 
needs of our growing businesses.

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

The objectives for the coming year are clear in that we need to maintain and grow our existing 
business base whilst at the same time creating an environment and support infrastructure that will 
encourage new businesses to invest in the area.

The outcomes by which we can measure successful achievement of the objectives are:
 An increase in business numbers particularly at 0 – 9 and 10 – 49
 An increase in businesses new to the District
 A land and property supply that meets the needs of business
 An increase in applications from developers and land owners looking to bring forward 

employment land

CHALLENGES & RISKS

There is the obvious risk currently presented by Brexit and the uncertainty this has created for 
expansion and inward investment. Locally businesses appear more inclined to accept the challenge 
that Brexit represents and are minded to press ahead with their ‘in-district’ growth plans.

The more real challenge to the existing SK market is the current lack of available land and property 
to meet their growing business needs with the greatest risk being us losing businesses as a result of 
being unable to secure suitable sites and premises.

In addition to the obvious benefit of the cost of doing business one of the other main reasons 
businesses quote they need to stay local to grow is the requirement to retain their existing staff. The 
issue of recruitment is constantly raised as a major challenge for businesses and whilst it is a 
contributor to them staying in the district it is also a real inhibitor to them growing at the rate 
required to support their business expansion. The links to the skills agenda and creating a wider 
talent pool and future workforce are obvious as is the need to support the promotion of 
apprenticeships and higher levels skills development in both the current and future workforce.

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION
Availability of land / 
property

Delivery – 
Reputation

High High Consistent brokerage to bring 
sites forward.

Lack of engagement from 
businesses on skills agenda

Delivery – 
Reputation

Low Medium Consistent brokerage & 
promotion.

Lack of funding to support 
investment campaigns

Delivery -
Reputation

Low Medium Exploit all media routes 
including editorials

78



ACTIVITY PLAN OVERVIEW

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Business Networking 
Events

NETWORKING BUSINESS 
BREAKFASTS 

ANNUAL SUMMIT

ATTENDANCE AT MARKET 
TOWN SPECIFIC BUISNESS 
CLUBS

OTHER RELEVANT 
NETWORKING EVENTS, 
MINISTERIAL VISITS ETC.

QUARTERLY

Q3

QUARTERLY

ONGOING

AVE ATTENDANCE 60+ 

ATTENDANCE 90+

LOCAL BUSINESS 
ENGAGMENT AND 
INVESTSK PROMOTION

LOCAL BUSINESS 
ENGAGMENT AND 
INVESTSK PROMOTION

Property events and 
promotional 
opportunities

ATTEND LINCOLNSHIRE 
BUSINESS EXPO, MIPIM AND 
OTHER LAND AND PROPERTY 
RELATED EVENTS 

JAN 2019
MARCH 2019 
AND ONGOING 
AS APPROPRIATE 
EVENTS ARE 
IDENTIFIED

PROMOTE DISTRICT TO 
REGIONAL, NATIONAL 
AND INTERNATIONAL 
AUDIENCE

IDENTIFY DEVELOPERS, 
OPERATORS AND 
INTERMEDIARIES 
WISHING TO INVEST / 
LOCATE WITHIN THE 
DISTRICT

Inward Investment 
campaign

A PROACTIVE CAMPAIGN TO 
DRIVE INWARD INVESTMENT 
INTO THE DISTRICT THROUGH 
PROMOTION OF SITES AND 
PROPERTY AND RELEVANT 
SUPPORTING DATA

 SUMMER 2019 AN INCREASE IN THE 
NUMBER OF INWARD 
INVESTMENT ENQUIRIES 
RECEIVED AND SITES 
PROMOTED 

Land and property 
forum

ANNUAL FORUM BRINGING 
TOGETHER KEY CONTACTS 
FROM THE LAND AND 
PROPERTY INDUSTRY

 SUMMER 2019 A GREATER INSIGHT 
INTO THE LOCAL 
MARKET AND THE SITES / 
PROPERTY AVAILABLE TO 
SUPPORT BUSINESS 
GROWTH AND INWARD 
INVESTMENT

Continued promotion 
ad funding of Town 
Centre Investment 
Fund

TO CONTINUE TO RAISE 
AWARENESS AND SUPPORT 
EXPANDING AND NEW 
BUSINESSES LOOKING TO 
OCCUPY VACANT UNITS IN OUR 
4 MARKET TOWNS

ONGOING 
THROUGHOUT 
2019

- NEW BUSINESSES 
SUPPORTED
- NEW JOBS CREATED
 - GREATER DIVERSITY 
AND VALUE ADDED TO 
OUR ‘HIGH STREET’ 
OFFER

79



INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                         Annex ii

DETAILED WORK PLAN: SKILLS

AIM

To retain, grow and attract talent to ensure our businesses have the right skills in their workforce, 
now and to enable future growth. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES

Although only a relatively small budget was available for the Skills agenda in SK in 2019/20, there 
were some key initiatives delivered, which directly inform priorities for the year ahead.

South Kesteven’s first Skills Summit was held in March 2019. This engaged a wide number of 
partners, including skills providers and local businesses. The focus of the event was very much 
towards the economic and business need: enabling local companies to find out more about skills 
opportunities, to understand their skills needs and opportunities, and to plan how they can meet 
their challenges and opportunities through an up-skilled workforce. Until the summit outcomes can 
be fully assessed, the priorities indicated in the table below can only be indicative, but common 
themes are already being presented through business engagement and liaison with providers:

 The complexities of the apprenticeship scheme and accessing providers;
 Understanding business benefits from up-skilling and accessing support;
 Confidence among providers to establish courses for businesses.

In light of these emerging, but clear challenges, the proposal is to focus on a number of key 
priorities:

 To employ an ‘Apprenticeship Broker’ to work with local businesses, and help them through 
the minefield of the scheme;

 Develop an online facility, bespoke to South Kesteven, where companies can share skills 
requirements with other businesses and develop cohorts which make provision viable for 
skills-providers;

 Establish a series of networking events for 1-2-1 engagement between businesses and 
providers

 Assist businesses in skills auditing and planning.

The other major initiative of 2019/20 was the securing of GLLEP funding for a university centre as 
part of the Grantham Cinema complex. For this to be a success it needs major market growth and 
promotion, and as such another key priority will be:

 Working with the University of Lincoln and other partners to promote the Grantham Centre, 
and develop pathways of skills improvements.

A key part of South Kesteven’s Skills agenda has been engaging businesses directly into schools to 
inspire and inform young people around their future careers and work-readiness. This has been 
delivered through the Skills Service until now, but that contract, through Greater Cambridgeshire, 
will conclude in February. It will be critical, therefore, to identify a new route for this provision. This 

80



will also incorporate the work around the Careers Enterprise Company and careers advice and 
planning in schools: 

 Work with GLLEP and other partners to maintain momentum of the Skills Service offer, and 
the provision of CEC Enterprise Adviser Network across the South Lincs area.

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

The targets for the outcomes of these activities are clear – they can be summarised as increasing 
participation in skills development, through a number of metric areas:

 Increasing the number of apprenticeships within South Kesteven, particularly at the higher 
end;

 Increasing the Higher Education offer and uptake;
 Increasing participation by businesses in the skills development agenda;
 Increasing collaboration among skills providers.

Metrics will include numbers of participants on courses, engagement levels of businesses, and new 
learners on courses.

CHALLENGES & RISKS

The Skills arena is a complex and changing environment, with new government initiatives emerging, 
higher level strategy approaches unclear, and a wide variety of agents active in the agenda. As such, 
one of the greatest challenges InvestSK faces is in attempting to co-ordinate and clarify this 
environment. The best way to address these challenges is for InvestSK to be a respected 
independent and impartial adviser and ‘front door’ to new skills opportunities.

In terms of specific risks, these are set out in the table below:

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION
Low interest from 
businesses

Reputation Low High Consistent brokerage, 
promotion & messaging 
through all channels.

Lack of co-operation from 
GLLEP

Financial Medium Medium Establish relationships and 
agreed strategy moving 
forward.

Low participation from 
providers

Delivery -
Reputation

Low High Consistent 1-2-1 engagement 
meetings with key providers.

Lack of funding Delivery – 
Reputation

Low Medium Manage budgets & expectations 
accordingly.
Seek other external funding, 
sponsorship etc.

81



ACTIVITY PLAN OVERVIEW

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Apprenticeship 
brokerage 
programme 

Direct engagement with local 
businesses to help them 
understand apprenticeship 
opportunities.

On-going

Quarterly 
measure

40 visits per quarter

Online portal Develop an online portal to 
support brokerage activity

Q2 Portal established
Increase ‘hits’ per 
quarter

Skills networking 
events

Establish regular informal 
networking sessions for 
businesses & providers

Quarterly – 
launch Q1

Increase attendees each 
quarter

School-business 
Engagement

Agree a new model of delivery 
to replace and maintain 
momentum of Skills Service

Q1 School engagement 
maintained as currently.
Increase within Q3-4

CEC Enterprise 
activity Agree CEC model for S Lincs 

area with GLLEP
Q1 Coverage of careers 

action planning 
equivalent to current 
levels. Increase Q3-4

Grantham University 
Centre

Support the development of the 
University Centre by engaging 
with businesses

Q3 & on-going 15 learners Q3
25 learners Q4

Skills Summit II Hold a second Skills Summit to 
monitor progress and maintain 
momentum

Q4 Increased attendance 
levels to 2019 version

82



INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                               Annex iii

DETAILED WORK PLAN – ARTS & CULTURE

AIM

To increase participation in South Kesteven’s Arts & Cultural arena, ensuring that cultural growth 
encourages and enables a better quality of life for all. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

2018-19 created the perfect platform for Arts & Culture to establish a strong network of local 
providers and excellent future links to regional and national partners. There was significant progress 
in both Bourne and The Deepings, establishing a presence in both towns, meeting with many local 
creatives and supporting groups and organisations to progress their individual goals and aspirations.

2019-20 will see this work continue with: 

 Delivery of the Deepings Literary Festival in May

 Support for a number of Deepings’ artists as part of the Peterborough Open Artists’ Studios 
event in The Deepings in July

 Ongoing discussions with Deepings Business Club, the Open Door Church, Deepings Youth 
Club and others will progress establishing the potential for additional events as part of a 
programme of work for the area.  

In Bourne, the Bourne Town Hall Trust has welcomed ongoing support from the team at InvestSK to 
assist the Trust in the development of the ground floor area of the venue, with the goal of creating 
the space as a destination for a regular programme of events.   In 2019-20, InvestSK will:

 Advise on and present a programme of work with Bourne Town Hall Trust across the year, 
providing audience development opportunities and promotional support

 Encourage the network of local contacts, continuing to advise them on plans for further 
creative work in the town, including progressing work on Bourne By Design – celebrating the 
work of Charles Frederick Worth.

Work began on establishing greater engagement with rural communities, focusing on Village Halls 
and schools. South Kesteven District Council’s established schemes – Live & Local Rural Touring and 
Music In Quiet Places, serve as excellent examples of the potential to deliver work throughout South 
Kesteven. 

 2019-20 will see further progress made to support a number of rural venues with 
programming and promotional activity culminating in a specific initiative for Village Halls 
Week in January 2020. 

Led by the Arts Centre, Stamford continues to offer a superb programme of performances, 
workshops and other events without any major contribution from InvestSK. However, the Cultural 

83



Strategy stakeholder and creative partner meeting, in January 2019, did highlight the need to 
establish greater connectivity between groups, supporting more effective programming and 
improved communication between groups, creative individuals and audiences. 

 Establishing an effective communication mechanism between organisations. 
 The team will also support delivery of the Stamford Georgian Festival in September 2019.  

Grantham too, has a considerable cultural offer. Nonetheless, once again, the town would benefit 
from improved connectivity and the creation of an annual programme of activity, signposting 
potential participants and audiences to events and opportunities. 

 Discussions with local artists and the team at St. Wulfram’s will identify opportunities to work 
together across 2019-20, establishing events in alternative venues to the Guildhall Arts 
Centre.

 Coventry based Imagineers will bring Bridge to Grantham in September 2019, with InvestSK 
supporting community workshops and events throughout the Spring and Summer as part of 
the preparations and delivery of the September residency.

 Local company Chantry Dance was identified as a ‘District Portfolio Organisation’ in 2018-19. 
2019-20 will see this investment support the organisation as it develops its national profile 
and builds a sustainable business model for future growth.    

InvestSK was successful in delivering a series of cultural conversations across South Kesteven, 
bringing interested parties together to discuss priorities for a new Cultural Strategy for SKDC.

This work will continue across 2019-20, with Arts & Culture working with Heritage and the newly 
appointed Sports Development Officer, to develop the strategy document and engage with residents 
throughout South Kesteven to gather their views and input into the process.

 Establish Sport and physical activity elements to Arts & Cultural events and programmes, 
Work across InvestSK to develop initiatives.

Although capacity constrained development of the fourth strand of the Cultural Strategy - The 
Sciences – early discussions with Woolthorpe Manor has led to a commitment to support a Go-To 
Scientist (residency programme) at Newton’s birthplace for 2019-20. 

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

Arts & Culture will use 2019-20 to consolidate the work begun throughout 2018-19. 

 The focus on The Deepings, Bourne and Rural Engagement projects will continue
 SKDC’s new Cultural Strategy will be created and published
 Large scale events in The Deepings, Grantham and Stamford will be delivered
 Planning for 2020’s Gravity Fields Festival will begin
 Establishing improved communications with and between creative groups
 Maintain a ‘regular’ connection with new and established groups and individuals, supporting 

greater collaboration and cross-promotion of events and activities
 Develop the Creative Artists’ Small Grant Fund and celebrate successful awards
 Seek to develop the Sports and physical activity element of the work in order to consider 

longer-term project delivery options

84



CHALLENGES & RISKS

Arts and Culture has a wide remit, with both geographic and demographic considerations putting 
pressure on the team to deliver a fair and equitable service for providers and audiences across South 
Kesteven.   It can be tempting to over commit, only to fail in delivering meaningful projects with a 
legacy for future activity and partnerships. 

Whist the £250,000 budget is considerable the expectations of Members, practitioners and 
audiences will need to be carefully managed across projects and disciplines with the service ever 
mindful of its overarching role and identifying strategic responsibilities. 

Where possible Arts & Culture should concentrate resources on supporting other parties to deliver 
projects and continue to identify new, more effective ways of bringing potential partners and 
collaborations together. 

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION

Extensive programme 
planned but with limited 
capacity

Delivery -
Reputation

Low High Focus on delivering through 
partners & capacity bids from 
external sources

Low participation from 
users

Delivery -
Reputation

Low Medium Maintain wider engagement & a 
promotional campaign for all 
activities, with maximum lead-in 
time for events.

Low participation from 
providers

Delivery -
Reputation

Low High Maintain positive engagement 
with and buy-in from local 
groups, and celebrate success 
publicly. 

Lack of funding Delivery – 
Reputation

Low Medium Manage budgets & expectations 
accordingly; seek external 
funding.

ACTIVITY PLAN OVERVIEW

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Creative Artists’ Small 
Grants Fund

 To promote, evaluate and 
award grants

 Ongoing 
programme

 Up to 10 maximum 
grants available. 
Seek to ensure District-
wide coverage.

 Cultural Strategy Public Engagement work – 
including Sport partners 
meetings and development of 
Science strand

Promote and evaluate online 
responses

Q1/2 

Q1

Ensure activity across all 
wards and with widest 
possible demographic 

Minimum of 2,000 
returned responses

85



Create draft document

Consult with Members,  
Stakeholders, partners and 
focus group of residents.

Sign off from Members

Document produced and 
distributed

Q2

Q2

Q3

Q3/4

Share with minimum of 
500 interested parties. 
With 75% return 

To all SKDC households

 Towns Projects Deliver the Deepings Literary 
Festival 
Work with local Arts 
professionals and others to 
explore future events in The 
Deepings and Bourne

Bourne Town Hall Trust

 Q1

Ongoing

Q1,Q3

 Achieve 70% capacity 
across the for days
Prepare for a new event 
in The Deepings and 
Bourne for delivery in 
2020-21

Programme 5+ events for 
Bourne Town Hall Trust 
as part of Audience 
Development 
programme

 Public Realm Works Support the development of 
two pieces of public art for the 
Cinema landscaping 
development 

 Q1 & Q2  Pieces commissioned 
and installed on site

 Communications  Work with practitioners and 
event organisers to establish a 
platform for an effective SK 
clash diary

Model on Idea1 in 
Peterborough

Direct practitioners and event 
organisers to set up events on 
DiscoverSK

 Ongoing

Ongoing

 Achieve buy-in from 50+ 
groups across SK

Establish core of 50 
individuals and groups 
using this service

Sport and Physical 
Activity

Set up and deliver Sport 
networking meetings

Support Bourne CiCLE event

Q1

Q2

Ongoing Q1,2,3

4 meetings across the 
towns

Work with at least two 
schools and/or 
community groups as 
part of the promotional 
activity for the event

86



Work with Inspire+ to develop 
Arts/Heritage element to the 
Legacy Challenge initiative 

Devise well-being events with 
partners in response to 
priorities identified in the 
Cultural Strategy 

Grantham Cricket Club – 
support delivery of District 
outreach events as per the 
Sponsorship Agreement

Q3/4

Q1 Q2

I page of related copy in 
the next edition 

3 discrete projects in 
Spring 2020 

4 events across the year

Rural Engagement Create a Rural networking 
group to devise and promote a 
week of activity for Village Halls 
week in January 2020

Ongoing 7+ Village Halls engaged

Festivals and Events Support the delivery of :

Bridge – Grantham (September)
Stamford Georgian Festival

Explore the potential of/plan for 
2020 programme:

Bourne By Design
Gravity Festival
William Cecil 500th Anniversary
St Wulfram’s 2020 programme 

Q1/Q2
Q1/Q2

Ongoing

Go To Scientist Work with Woolsthorpe Manor 
(The National Trust), to develop 
an Education/Skills programme

Ongoing Ensure strong 
collaboration on Science 
projects with 10+ schools 
across SK 

Britten Sinfonia Develop initial discussions for 
Graduate Music residency for 
SK – starting September 2019 
and running until July 2020

Ongoing Provide 30+ 
performances at various 
venues across SK

Pop-up shops and 
performances

Work with local practitioners to 
present a programme of 
residencies in the four towns 
and explore the potential to 
visit rural areas as part of the 
programme 

Ongoing 6+ pop-up venues across 
the year

Chantry Dance Support the company to 
achieve its Business Plan goals, 

Ongoing Increase the number of 
touring venues in 2019 
by 2+

87



extending the company profile 
both regionally and nationally

  

INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                              Annex iv

DETAILED WORK PLAN: Heritage

AIM

To ensure that the heritage of South Kesteven contributes to economic, social and cultural growth 
through building civic identity and pride, supporting community cohesion, and developing new skills. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

Community Engagement

Feedback from proactive engagement with a large number of groups highlighted that historically 
there had been few opportunities to engage with SKDC, and that they viewed the establishment of a 
heritage post within InvestSK as a clear signal of change.

Building on this outreach the South Kesteven Heritage Steering Group was established, bringing 
together members of local amenities societies, key stakeholders, and representatives of major 
regional and national heritage organisations. The group was created to give strategic guidance to 
heritage led regeneration projects across the district. 

Initial meetings have highlighted key needs which will inform the development heritage elements of 
the cultural strategy for the district:

 Recognition the distinctiveness of each of the market towns and the power of heritage to 
support place-making. 

 The need to support rural communities in the district, and the value of heritage assets, 
particularly churches as community spaces.

 Capacity-building in community heritage organisations, and enhanced collaboration 
between them. 

 Enhanced skills base to conserve heritage assets, and support the economy.
 A focus on both tangible and intangible heritage as part of the fabric of South Kesteven.
 The contribution of heritage to support wellbeing. 

In 2019/20 we will work with community groups, key funders and other stakeholders to assist in 
developing the capacity of the groups to deliver sustainable projects, including: civic societies, parish 
councils, heritage groups, funders such as the National Lottery Heritage Fund and Lincoln Diocese 

Heritage Alive! 

The Heritage Alive Website was launched in May 2018 to engage the public with the heritage of the 
area and signpost to relevant resources.  Over the next year we will continue to build the content of 
the site to boost visitors, through case studies and guest blogs. 

88



The Heritage Alive! grant programme was launched in October 2018, and was oversubscribed for 
2018/19 . It has allowed InvestSK to directly support a number of projects across the district, 
highlighted groups that we were previously unknown, and highlighted potential new services. 

The grant programme will continue to run in 2019/20, further developing the links between InvestSK 
and community heritage projects. 

Heritage Skills

Initial research has explored the opportunities around developing a skills centre in the district – 
highlighting the importance of a centre to be viable and sustainable (as the Lincolnshire Heritage 
review of the Castle Training Centre demonstrates).

A preferred model for direct training has been identified, and this will continue to be developed in 
2019/20, with an aim to have a working programme by the end of 2020.

Grantham Heritage Quarter & St Wulfram’s Church 

Throughout 2018/19 support has been given to St Wulfram’s Church in Grantham, as an anchor site 
to a developing heritage quarter; facilitating engagement with the National Trust over the potential 
use of Grantham House as a base for the St Wulfram’s community and social enterprise projects. 
InvestSk has funded a feasibility study into the use of Grantham House and have supported a bid for 
£100,000 to the Lottery Heritage Fund’s Inspiring Ideas programme (outcome early 2019/20).

InvestSK will continue to support this as a strategic project in 2019/20 with particular focus on 
fundraising. 

Future High Street Fund

InvestSK will be leading bids to the new Historic England and the Architectural Heritage Fund 
programme with a strategic focus on Grantham and Bourne.

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

Objectives from the activities going forward can be summarised as follows:

 Increased involvement with local heritage groups and projects
 Continued support and input into the development of the SKDC Cultural Strategy
 Supporting other InvestSk and SKDC regeneration projects to ensure that heritage is a 

considered aspect of any regeneration
 Creation of capacity building programme, including supporting collaboration between 

groups and projects around South Kesteven
 Increased engagements with rural churches, working with Lincoln Diocese
 Development of Heritage Skills programme 
 Successful spend of Heritage Alive! grant scheme

CHALLENGES & RISKS

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION

89



Lack of interest from 
community groups

Reputation Low High Consistent promotion of 
services, proactive engagement 
and deployment of grants.  

Lack of internal capacity for 
delivery 

Reputation/ 
Delivery 

Medium High Careful programming of works 
throughout the year to ensure 
staff capacity is maximised

Lack of external capacity 
for delivery 

Delivery Medium Medium Development and delivery of 
programme capacity building 
and training to support external 
groups

Lack of funding availability 
or being unable to access 
funding

Reputation/ 
Delivery 

Low High Budget management; proactive
engagement with funders on 
the back of good track record. 

Lack of Participation from 
Key Stakeholders

Reputation/ 
Delivery 

Low Medium Continued engagement with 
key stakeholders, including one 
to one meetings and 
involvement with consultations 
and heritage steering group. 

ACTIVITY PROGRAMME

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Heritage Steering 
Group Meetings

Stakeholder engagement. 
Strategic Steer on project 
planning and delivery

Quarterly Attendance at each 
meeting of key 
stakeholders
Development of 
Strategic projects 

Heritage Alive Grant 
fund 

 Targeted funding for 
community heritage projects 

 Ongoing - Engagement with 
20+ projects

- Financial support to 
projects circa £35K 

Heritage Alive Website Increasing community 
engagement through the 
Heritage Alive website 

Ongoing - 12 + guest blog 
posts

- Increased volunteer 
and events posting

Capacity building 
programme

Working with stakeholders and 
community groups to increase/ 
support capacity building 
Creation of a network of 
community heritage groups 

 Q1  & ongoing - Engagement with 
groups across the 
district

St Wulfram’s/ 
Grantham Heritage 
Quarter 

Support St Wulfram’s Church in 
developing their partnership 
with National Trust, increasing 
Public access to NT site, and 
delivery of SSCG programme 

 Ongoing Secure funding for 
development of project, 
and ongoing 
conservation work at St 
Wulfram’s.

90



Rural Churches 
Engagement

Develop a programme of 
engagement and support for 
heritage projects in rural 
churches 

 Q2  10 churches engaged by 
end 2019/20

 Heritage Skills Identify potential Centre model

Engage wider partners and 
operating model

Submit bid for funding support 

Q1

Q1-2

Q3  

 Skills Centre business 
model prepared by end 
2019/20

INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                              Annex v

DETAILED WORK PLAN: Visitor Economy

AIM

To increase visits to the district and its attractions from within and outside South Kesteven, through 
promoting its offer and building capacity and collaboration among its attractions. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

The first year of the work undertaken by the InvestSK Visitor Economy team has been varied, far 
reaching and achieved significant impact.  Early in the evolution of the VE team a series of visitor 
economy forums were held across the district.  In relation to the number of businesses that had 
been identified at that stage the attendance was reasonable.   

The impact of the team has been considerable, and a number of key outputs have been achieved:

 Engaging with a diverse range of stakeholders across the district & in adjoining districts;
 Production of a new style of visitor guide;
 Commissioning a district film;
 Creation of a new website;
 Launching on the main social media channels;
 Procuring & deploying the promotional trailer to event’s;
 Establishing three new visitor information points;
 Established a VE brand;
 Working with Visit Britain on the Explorers Road and Cycle England projects. 

Looking forward, the team will build on these successes, focussing on brand development and 
stakeholder engagement, and boosting the involvement of wider strategic partners. Priorities for the 
year will include:

 Concentrate effort on engaging with businesses across the district;
 Stakeholder networking & leaflet swap events;
 Develop thematic visits & itineraries;
 Continue work on the website to expand the offer;
 Expand the deployment of the promotional trailer;
 Bring the Visit Britain projects to fruition;
 Seek expansion of visitor information points.

91



OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

The target outcome for the year ahead is to continue to develop the suit of marketing activities that 
are currently being undertaken.  This will include extending the reach both within the district and 
outside.  The objectives for this year are to:

 Increase the visitor activity across the district; 
 Increase visitor spend; 
 Increase visitor dwell time; 
 Secure the number of jobs in the sector; 
 Support businesses in the VE sector.

CHALLENGES & RISKS

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION
Low participation from 
stakeholders

Reputation & 
financial

Low High Work to 
demonstrate the 
value of the visitor 
economy team offer.

Lack of funding Delivery – 
Reputation

Medium Medium Explore alternative 
funding streams.

Reduced foreign visitor 
numbers as a result of 
Brexit

Delivery Low Medium Little to be done, 
except to focus on 
domestic market.

ACTIVITY PROGRAMME

Project/action Description Target date Target outcomes
Stakeholder 
Engagement & 
Participation

Forums and 1-2-1 engagement 
with attractions & businesses. 

Ongoing Increased 
collaboration 
with attractions

Funding Explore alternative funding for 
the long term both from the 
public sector and private.

Ongoing Sustainability of 
VE programme & 
quality of service.

Marketing Provide a comprehensive PR 
marketing presence in 
mainstream and trade media

Ongoing Increased profile 
for SK

Website Continue to update the VE 
website introducing e-
commerce capacity.

Ongoing Increased visits 
to website.

Social media Continue to develop the social 
media presence across all 
channels.

Ongoing Increased social 
media 
interactions.

Promotional trailer Deploy the promotional trailer 
to events across the district and 
further afield.

Ongoing Raise profile 
within & outside 
the district.

92



Inward facing brand Create an inward facing SK 
brand directed at residents and 
those just outside the district.  
‘Think you know South 
Kesteven, think again’.

Ongoing Increased visitor 
numbers to 
attractions from 
district residents

Gateway Review signage and create 
junction gateway’s on the A1.

Q3 Installing brown 
signs on the A1 
at Stamford.

TIC vs VIC Review the Tourist Information 
Centres (TIC) title/branding and 
expand offer.

Q4 More relevant 
branding.

Visitor Information 
Points

Continue to expand the number 
of visitor information points.

As opportunity 
presents itself.

Wider access to 
information.

Visitor Guide Keep the Visitor Guide under 
review to extend inclusion to a 
wider visitor economy base.

Q2 A guide that 
relies less on 
funding from the 
VE budget.

Collaborative working 
with neighbours

Work with adjacent districts & 
counties to create a critical 
mass to attract visitors with 
joint campaigns.

On going Enhanced wider 
‘offer’ 

Support to SKDC 
Events Programme

Work to develop a district wide 
events plan. 

Q1 Co-ordinated 
programme & 
promotion

Support to external 
Events 

Support event organisers to 
promote their events to 
potential audiences

Ongoing Enhanced 
audience 
numbers

Itineraries Develop further themed visitor 
itineraries. 

Ongoing Increase 
numbers to visit 
& stay.

Walking & cycling Develop walking & cycling 
routes across the district.

Q2-3 Increase visits 
both externally 
and resident 
participation.

Support Aviation 
Heritage

Supporting the momentum 
created through the RAF100 
programme, and establish a 
long term RAF legacy 
(preferably working with an 
Events Team)

Ongoing Wider awareness 
of RAF legacy. 

Aviation Heritage 
2019

Commemorate 75th 
anniversary of both D-Day & 
Arnhem (preferably working 
with an Events Team)

6th June
&
19th September

Successful 
commemoration
s

District film Explore the themes for a new 
district film early in 2020-21 FY

Q4 Film scoped

93



INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN        Annex vi

DETAILED WORK PLAN: Markets & Town Centres

AIM

To ensure that each of our market towns has a vibrant market and strong town centre offer. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

The brief for the 2018/19 year, as well as markets and town centres, has also included a 
responsibility around car parking operations and commercialisation. This will be reviewed in 
2019/20. 

Key work is being undertaken to identify a comprehensive and aspirational delivery plan for 
improvements to the markets across South Kesteven, and this will inform the 2019/20 priorities.

The 2018/19 has seen major positive achievements – building confidence in the markets and the 
town centres, including:

 Successful relaunch of Grantham Market on the 7th of July 2018, creating local interest in the 
Market.

 “Busk Stop” introduced to the market place used to showcased local bands and charity 
events throughout the year.

 Very successful French market held in conjunction with the monthly farmers market.  Due to 
its success this is now an annual event.

 In addition to our current markets, we now have 10 additional events booked for 2019 
 Additional 32 parking spaces added to Stamford car parks.
 New car parking pay and display machines in all carparks across the district
 Consultation process completed for Market Deeping weekly market.
 New market covers for Grantham market
 Installation of flags throughout the market area in Grantham
 Additional £30K for enhancing the Christmas lighting in Grantham
 Initial installation of power to the market place in Grantham

Following on from the above achievements, the following are some  priorities for the coming years 
that we need to focus on: -

 Refining and beginning implementation of a comprehensive improvement plan for markets.
 Increased engagement with retailers in each market town.

94



 Implementation of Market Deeping weekly Saturday market.
 More events to run in conjunction with the weekly markets across all towns
 Support the Head of Business Growth in sign-posting retailers to wider support.
 Rollout of power supply for the whole of Grantham market, working in partnership with 

Lincolnshire County Council.
 Social media coverage for all markets including Facebook pages for each market.
 Reviewed staffing structures for all markets with views to cost savings.
 Look at incentives for all markets to attract new traders and therefore grow the markets.
 Working with colleges, create a strategy to encourage more youthful traders to the markets, 

utilising external groups such as Teenage Market, Youth Market operating via the National 
Market Traders Federation and NABMA.

 Wide spread promotion of all markets to attract new traders and visitors.
 Create a quarterly market newsletter incorporating all market traders 
 Explore Awards opportunities.

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

Anticipated outcomes from the priorities above are:

 Increased footfall
 Enhanced customer experience
 Vibrant market environment
 Improved relationship between traders and businesses
 Generating cost effective markets
 More young traders will attract younger visitors, ensuring longevity of all markets
 Robust parking strategy in place by year end
 Best promotion of market through social media and newsletter.

CHALLENGES & RISKS

Risk Risk area Likelihood Impact Mitigation
Funding Lack of funding Low High Town centre budget needs 

to be secured
Traders Ageing current 

traders
Medium High To encourage new younger 

traders
Highways 
cooperation

Road closures, 
TROs

Medium Medium Building relationships with 
Highways Officers and LCC 
portfolio holder

Communication Owning and 
maintaining 
Facebook pages

Medium High Ensure we have staff who 
can dedicate time and 
commitment to ensuring 
the content.

Market Deeping 
Market

Not being 
supported by 
traders or visitors

Low High Initial ground work meeting 
with traders and gaining 
their commitment and 
ensuring the goods traded 
are balanced and attractive 
to visitors.

95



Local business 
support

Lack of solidarity 
from established 
shop keepers

Medium High Continued interaction with 
local shops and supporting 
the retail groups

ACTIVITY PLAN

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Market Deeping 
market

Create a weekly Saturday 
market April 2019

Successful market 
implemented.

Market Enhancement 
Strategy

Develop a visionary approach to 
enhancing the markets through 
exploring successes elsewhere

May 2019

Visionary, deliverable 
strategy for market 
enhancements & 
transformation

Markets Promotion Develop a plan for promoting 
and marketing the markets.

May 2019

Clear phased & costed 
plan for markets 
promotion.

Portuguese market 
and event

Work with external agency to 
create the event June 2019

Successful weekend 
festival to help unite the 
varied communities 
across Grantham

Power in Narrow 
Westgate

To install connections for 
traders lighting September 2019

Possibility of 
longer/evening trading 
and enhanced 
appearance

 Enhancement of 
Christmas lighting

Build on current illuminations, 
replacing and refurbishment December 2019 Improved lighting 

Market forums 

Meet regularly with market 
traders to gather views and 
thoughts On going

Build relationships with 
traders with the aim to 
retain current traders 
and attract new.

Wayfinding

To ensure that all signage for 
the wayfinding project is in 
place May 2019

All signage in place by 
end of May

Moving the Spring Fair 
in Grantham to the 
High street

Exploring the possibility of 
moving the Grantham Fair to 
the High street to incorporate 
the additional day asked for by 
the showman’s guild April 2019

This will allow the 
Showmen to have the 
extra day requested with 
a minimum effect on 
established retailers

Add new market 
events across the 
district

Work with events team to 
provide opportunities for 
additional markets Ongoing

Increase income and 
exposure of markets

96



INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                           Annex vii

DETAILED WORK PLAN:  COMMUNITY FUNDING  

AIM

To support community groups and organisations across South Kesteven to develop their community 
projects with the particular emphasis on how the projects will be funded. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

The community funding service has been running since August 2018.  To date funding support for 
groups and projects has come through the following routes:

 Referrals from other members of the InvestSK team
 Referrals for SKDC and Councillors
 Identified key strategic projects for InvestSK and South Kesteven 
 New contacts from attending funding events in the district

So far this has generated a consistent and growing number of funding enquiries.  Many of these are 
for capital projects, which need one off funding.  The table below outlines the main capital projects 
that have been supported and the number of funding bids that have been directly supported during 
the last 7 months.

Grantham Canal Society 4 Grantham
St Wulfram’s Church 2 Grantham
Dimensions Skatepark 4 Bourne
The Thorold Arms Community Hub 9 Marston, Grantham
Deepings Community Library 1 Market Deeping

Enquiries have been across the sectors for example: sports clubs (rugby, tennis, cricket), community 
buildings (libraries, village halls and community shops) historic buildings (churches, town halls, 
canals), environment, land and parks, museums, festivals and events.

The challenge is that each project needs bespoke support specific for their project and advice needs 
to be tailored in this way.  Different funders, priorities, timetables, application process etc. 

A broad summary of support given so far has included:

 Early funding advice when developing projects, with particular reference to fundraising 
strategies and plans.

 Timetable for funding and project delivery.
 Research potential funding opportunities from trusts and foundations.

97



 Advise on wider broader funding opportunities such as crowdfunding and community 
funding.  

 Developing a case for support which can be used in applications and other funding requests.
 Individual funders criteria and priorities, in relations to their project.
 Review funding bids to increase their chances of support.
 Providing a critical funding friend role to support community groups and individuals through 

their funding journeys.

There has also been a focus on raising the profile of the service and making links with key 
stakeholders.  In particular, this has been done through the Lincolnshire Funding Forum which is led 
by Lincolnshire County Council and is attended by key funders and fundraising individuals such as 
Lincolnshire County Council funding officers and collaboration team, Lincolnshire Community 
Foundation, National Lottery Charities Board (previously BIG Lottery) Children in Need, Community 
Lincs and LincsCVS.  

Relationships with other key funders is also ongoing namely with National Lottery Heritage Fund 
(previously Heritage Lottery Fund), National Lottery Charities Board (previously BIG Lottery) and Len 
Pick Trust in Bourne.

Funding support has also been given in relation to the InvestSK own funding through Heritage Alive 
Grants and Creative Artists Grants schemes. 

The priorities for 2019 are to ensure that that this work continues and develops in a sustainable 
manner by adding an overarching strategic funding resources and service to complement the work 
already achieved.  This will include:

 Ongoing support to projects and groups that are already engaged.  
 Support to include project development, funding research, fundraising strategies and plans, 

case for support, bid reviews and being a funding critical friend.
 Funding literature to support the service.
 Regular Funding surgeries across the district offering 1-2-1 support
 Funding workshops on particular themes and topics, working with other InvestSK staff and 

their sector needs and external parties, in particular funding bodies.
 Ongoing networking and relationship building with key funding stakeholders. 

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

The outcome for the coming year is to continue to offer the funding service across South Kesteven 
and add to it so that more groups and projects can benefit.  A key objective is to ensure the balance 
between individual support to projects and groups and the those wanting general fundraising advice 
and initial support.

Key objectives in 2019/20

 Increase the number of groups being supported across South Kesteven with funding.
 Maximise their chances of successfully securing funding, with the ultimate aim of increasing 

the level of external funding for community projects in South Kesteven.
 Increase capacity and skills within these groups for fundraising.
 Ensure South Kesteven groups have access to new fundraising opportunities by maximising 

the benefit of the SKDC funded Lincolnshire Funding Portal and GrantFinder.

98



 Offer regular funding surgeries across the district.
 Complements the funding service with funding literature.
 Support the InvestSK team and their clients with their funding needs.

CHALLENGES & RISKS

Evidence so far has demonstrated that there is need and demand in South Kesteven from 
community groups for support and advice on funding.   However, many of these groups need 1-2-1 
support for their individual projects.  Capacity within these groups is often limited, with fundraising 
often resting with just one or two people within the group. Many of them struggle with the 
timetables, plethora of funders and different application forms for every funder.  They therefore 
have a need for a critical funding friend who can advise and support them through these 
unchartered waters. 

The challenge for 2019/20 is balance their need for bespoke and often 1-2-1 support with wider 
more general funding resources, workshops and advice.  The ultimate aim to increase capacity, skills 
and funding in South Kesteven.

  

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION
Low interest from 
community groups 

Reputation/
Delivery

Low High Working closely with other 
members of InvestSK team and 
SKDC staff for leads; wider 
engagement programme.

Demand for support  is too 
much for the current  
InvestSK service

Reputation/
Delivery 

Low Medium Carefully manage expectations; 
exploit all funding advice routes 
(eg standard advice web pages). 

Reduction of external 
funding opportunities and 
success rate  for South 
Kesteven groups

Financial Low High Ongoing relationship building 
and engagement with key 
funders. Wide use of 
Grantfinder portal.

ACTIVITY PLAN OVERVIEW

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Funding support and 
advice to groups 
across the district

Respond to community 
fundraising need and support 
for their projects through 
meetings, research funding 
opportunities, bid reviews and 
being a funding critical friend.

Ongoing Increase external funding 
to South Kesteven 
projects & build local 
capacity.

Funding surgeries in 
South Kesteven 

Opportunity for 1-2-1 funding 
support for community groups 
in their local area.

Q1 and then 
ongoing 

Monthly meeting 
rotating across the 
district to raise the 
profile of the service and 

99



increase direct advice / 
support.

Funding workshops More general funding workshop 
to support groups.  Themed 
according to need eg 
introduction to fundraising / 
subject area. 

Q 1 and then 
ongoing 

Broadening capacity 
building across South 
Kesteven.

Funding literature Creation of supporting funding 
documents which can be sent 
out and available online too

 Q 1- 2 Increase funding 
resources for the district. 

Support of key 
strategic InvestSK 
projects 

St Wulfram’s Church 

Future High Street Fund – 
provided shortlisted

Ongoing 

Q1

Securing funding for the 
next stage for both key 
Grantham projects 

Ongoing support to 
wider InvestSK team 
on projects 

Support InvestSK team with 
wider funding needs as 
required.

Ongoing Increase outputs of 
InvestSK and 

Networking and 
relationship building 

Attend appropriate funding 
events that increase funding 
knowledge and priorities for 
South Kesteven eg Lincolnshire 
Funding Forum and other 
events help by National Lottery, 
CVS and Lincolnshire County 
Council 

Ongoing Engagement with other 
key funders/individuals 
and stakeholders in 
Lincolnshire 

Raising the profile of the 
service and InvestSK

100



INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                         Annex viii

DETAILED WORK PLAN: PLACE-MAKING & REGENERATION

AIM

To ensure that place-making and regeneration plans and interventions act as an attractor to South 
Kesteven, underpin wider growth plans and create vibrant towns and villages. 

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

Place-making is a broad term that cuts across virtually all of InvestSK’s principle areas of activity. It is 
important, however, to recognise InvestSK’s role in the ‘front-end’ development of new and 
transformational regeneration projects.

In 2018/19 this work very much revolved around a small number of key projects:

 Grantham Implementation Plan struggled to develop, owing to a combination of lock of 
capacity and engagement from both client and contractor, but was coming back in line with 
expectations by February 2019;

 Wayfinding activity had a positive review and audit phase, leading to a project delivery 
phase that albeit slightly delayed will see implementation in early 2019/20;

 InvestSK also strongly supported the design elements of the new public realm on Edith Smith 
Way, Grantham, and will be bringing forward new designs for key aspects of public realm for 
funding and delivery consideration in 2019/20;

 InvestSK will also be leading the bidding work for the Future High Streets fund, using its key 
place-making skills.

The focus for 2019/20 will be the completion of the Implementation Plan to the satisfaction of all 
stakeholders, and the deployment of this into the Future High Streets bid; completion of the way-
finding scheme; public realm design development, and critically, enhancements to St Peter’s Hill 
Gardens. 

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

The objectives for the coming year will be to deliver the plans for comprehensive regeneration of 
Grantham, and key public realm schemes.

The outcomes by which we can measure successful achievement of the objectives are relatively 
limited in terms of the MOU Performance Framework from SKDC:

 Completion of an Implementation Plan for Grantham

101



However, it would be helpful to have additional outcomes as follows:

 Successful delivery of a wayfinding scheme within each market town
 Accepted design work for public realm interventions
 Project delivery model for St Peter’s Hill Gardens and commencement of delivery

CHALLENGES & RISKS

The major challenge for InvestSK is that capacity within the team has not been clearly identified 
against this project area, nor any accompanying budget. However, it is intended to meet this 
requirement through existing budgets in the short term.

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION
Lack of capacity to deliver a 
significant place-making 
agenda

Delivery – 
Reputation

High High Staff funded by economic 
development and/or 
contributions from existing staff 
capacity will support delivery.

Lack of funding to 
undertake place-making 
plans

Delivery – 
Reputation

Low High Budgets for planning stages 
have been identified but should 
further work be required, costs 
have not been budgeted. 

Lack of funding to deliver 
interventions

Financial Medium High Capital sums for major 
development have not yet been 
identified, but positive 
engagement is underway with 
LCC.

ACTIVITY PLAN OVERVIEW

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES
Grantham 
Implementation Plan

Delivery of a robust, 
comprehensive and deliverable 
plan for physical regeneration in 
Grantham

Q1 Accepted plan for 
regeneration 
interventions; insights to 
Future High Street bid

Wayfinding Scheme 
delivery

Delivering new monoliths and 
fingerposts, and refurbishing 
existing across the market 
towns.

Q1 Interventions in place

Public realm designs Developing a suite of design 
plans for public realm in 
Grantham & Bourne

Q1 Accepted design plans

102



St Peter’s Hill Gardens Developing a project model for 
delivering a major enhancement 
scheme for St Peter’s Hill 
Gardens, Grantham

Q2-3 Deliverable plan 
accepted and funding 
secured. 

INVESTSK 2019/20 BUSINESS PLAN                                                                                             Annex ix

DETAILED WORK PLAN: MARKETING AND COMMUNICATIONS

AIM

To raise the profile of InvestSK with local residents and businesses, encouraging positive 
engagement with its services and promote South Kesteven’s offer externally to attract new 
investment.

ACHIEVEMENTS & PRIORITIES 

As a new company, it was important that marketing and communications activity delivered during 
2018/19 focused on setting strong foundations and reinforcing the corporate brand whilst, 
simultaneously, engaging widely to communicate the Council’s fast-paced economic growth agenda. 

New collateral has been developed, including various leaflets, banners and websites and a number 
of industry exhibitions have been attended in neighbouring areas, and as far afield as London and 
France. There has also been a busy PR programme of activity with press coverage achieved though, 
to date, only local and regional media has been engaged.

A new visitor economy brand has been created, along with guidelines to ensure consistent use. 
Underpinned by the District’s notable assets - market towns, heritage, big skies and rolling 
countryside - the ‘Discover South Kesteven’ brand presents a strong visual image that resonates with 
visitors and residents alike. This new place brand is now the lead for all South Kesteven visitor 
economy communications.

Social media accounts have been created - corporately for InvestSK and for the visitor economy and 
heritage teams - they include: Twitter, Instagram, Facebook and LinkedIn platforms. Content is 
posted regularly and engagement is steadily growing across all channels.

Business networking events were launched and quickly became popular, with 100 registrations 
achieved by the third event and very positive feedback received from a range of business delegates.

Regular e-newsletters were established and distributed to a growing subscriber base (monthly for 
InvestSK and 6 weekly for visitor economy) and both have achieved very good open-rates (circa 85% 
for InvestSK and 55% for DiscoverSK – the industry average is less than 20%).

103



And finally, the second annual economic summit was delivered in October for SKDC, achieving good 
attendance from senior delegates and very positive feedback.

Looking ahead to 2019/20

The priority for marketing and communications during the next financial year is, ultimately, to 
ensure each of InvestSK’s service areas successfully communicate with their respective audiences 
and achieve their target outcomes. 

From a corporate perspective, InvestSK needs to build its own profile (while always namechecking 
the Council) to ensure businesses, residents and other stakeholders are aware of our role in 
delivering SKDC’s economic growth and regeneration agenda and are encouraged to engage where 
appropriate.

Much of our work to date has centred on delivering project activity within the District and building 
InvestSK’s corporate brand – and rightly so – but, with groundwork now complete, we have an 
opportunity to build South Kesteven’s profile as a cost-effective business destination of choice. 
Therefore this year we will plan and deliver an inward investment focused campaign to raise the 
profile of the District, drive new investor enquiries and reinforce local business confidence. 

OUTCOMES & OBJECTIVES

Aside from helping each of the InvestSK service areas to meet their own objectives, the marketing 
and communications outcomes and objectives for the year ahead include:

- An increase in website traffic, social media followers/engagement and newsletter 
subscribers/engagement

- An increase in event attendees
- An increase in positive local and regional press coverage about InvestSK
- An increase in positive trade press coverage about South Kesteven as a visitor and business 

destination
- An increase in new inward investment enquiries and an uplift in local business growth 

enquiries
- Improved brand awareness and understanding of InvestSK’s remit (NB. this will be difficult 

to measure without a clear benchmark metric to compare against)

CHALLENGES & RISKS

InvestSK’s agenda is very broad and far-reaching which presents a significant challenge from a 
marketing and communications perspective. With a comparatively small financial and staffing 
resource, InvestSK should focus on achieving defined communication objectives that deliver high 
value, rather than attempting to deliver lots of lower level tactical goals without much of a tangible 
result.

There is a risk to InvestSK’s reputation, and subsequently that of the Council, if we’re not able to 
communicate and engage successfully with our target audience. It’s crucial that, through 
stakeholder mapping and communications planning, InvestSK regularly reaches its key audiences 
with meaningful content that has a strategic aim and which creates an interaction that causes a 
positive reaction.

104



The macro-environment undoubtedly presents a challenge to the level of business engagement 
achieved during the months ahead. Depending on the Brexit resolution, business growth enquiries 
and, indeed, inward investment interest could be lower than anticipated. 

RISK RISK AREA LIKELIHOOD IMPACT MITIGATION
Lack of funding to support 
investment campaigns

Financial -
Reputation

Medium High Exploit all media routes 
including editorials

Lack of capacity within 
team to meet expectations

Delivery – 
Reputation

Low Medium Careful management of 
resources & positive use of 
media. 

ACTIVITY PLANNER

PROJECT / ACTION DESCRIPTION TARGET DATE TARGET OUTCOMES

BUSINESS NETWORK 
EVENTS

QUARTERLY BUSINESS 
BREAKFASTS
ANNUAL SUMMIT
SPONSORSHIP OF STAMFORD 
AND GRANTHAM BUSINESS 
AWARDS

QUARTERLY

Q3

Q3

AVE ATTENDANCE 60+ 

ATTENDANCE 90+

INCREASED BRAND 
AWARENESS AND 
BUSINESS ENGAGEMENT

WEBSITE 
DEVELOPMENTS

CONTENT AND VISUAL REFRESH 
OF THE CORPORATE WEBSITE
REDEVELOP AND RELAUNCH 
‘THE HIVE’, ISK’S ONLINE 
BUSINESS NETWORK

Q1

Q1

INCREASED VISITIORS 
AND DWELL TIME
INCREASED BUSINESS 
ENGAGEMENT ACROSS 
THE DISTRICT

SOCIAL MEDIA

BUILD SOCIAL MEDIA PROFILES 
ACROSS ALL PLATFORMS
DELIVER A DISCOVERSK 
CAMPAIGN TO PROMOTE THE 
KEY VISITOR ATTRACTIONS 
DURING EACH SEASON

ONGOING

Q1,Q2,Q3,Q4

INCREASE FOLLOWERS, 
ENGAGEMENT AND 
BRAND AWARENESS

NEWSLETTER

DEVELOP THE MONTHLY 
NEWSLETTER TO  CONTAIN 
MORE LOCAL BUSINESS NEWS 
AND OPPORTUNITIES

ONGOING INCREASE SUBSCRIBERS 
AND ENGAGEMENT

INWARD INVESTMENT 
CAMPAIGN

PLAN AND DELIVER A 
PROACTIVE CAMPAIGN TO 
RAISE THE PROFILE OF SOUTH 
KESTEVEN AND THE 
OPPORTUNITIES IT OFFERS 
BUSINESSES. PROMOTE 
AVAILABLE SITES AND 
PROPERTY

 Q2
INCREASE IN INWARD 
INVESTMENT ENQUIRIES 
AND SITES PROMOTED

105



106



Document is Restricted

107

Appendix 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



109

A
ppendix 8



Outcomes to Date�
Business

Growth

Inward

Investment

Skills Community 

Developm’nt

Arts & Culture Place-making & 

Heritage

Markets & Town 

Centres

Visitor Economy

+100 businesses 

directly engaged 

20 start-ups & 4 

high growth 

supported

5 units filled with 

18 new jobs 

(>40)

Property

brokerage

Sth Quadrant 

energy group

15 acre site 

supported in  

Bourne

National & 

Secured £2m for 

Uni Centre

SK summit 80 

people

Direct apprentice  

support for 

apprentice

Business 

75 groups 

supported

£68k ext.funding

won

£250k under 

consideration

Capacity building

35 additional.

events 

5,700 + visitors

13 artists 

supported

Arts pop-ups

Bridge; Literary 

Up to £1m 

secured for 

Grantham HAZ

30 groups funded 

c£70k

Building repair; 

capacity building; 

exhibitions; 

interpretation

New Saturday 

market in 

Deeping

Re-boot of 

Bourne & 

Grantham

Portugese

Festival

0.5% incr in 

visitor numbers

5% incr in spend

Promotion film; 

events calendar; 

visitor guides; 

Explorers Road

c100 at breakfast 

events

National & 

internationalprofili

ng

Business 

confidence & 

engagement

Bridge; Literary 

Festival - & 

legacy work

interpretation

Shortlisted for 

£18m Future High 

Streets

Wayfinding 

scheme 

developed (£20k 

ext funding 

secured)

110



A word from our businesses�..

“We speak to InvestSK often about business opportunities, about people looking for land or 
buildings�The beauty of InvestSK is that the team is so accessible and that’s really important.” 
David Hindmarch, Grantham Estates 

“We have a huge focus on using suppliers who are based within the district - so coming to these 
InvestSK Business Breakfasts is the perfect opportunity for us to make those relationships.”        
Jo Peck, Stamford SchoolJo Peck, Stamford School

“I had a great day helping to judge the Bridge Schools competition…great to see what 
young minds can come up with…” Jamie Clare, Iconic Engineering

111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Companies Committee
19 November 2019

Witham Room, South Kesteven House

 DELIVER SK 
LLP      
The Purpose of the Company

Deliver SK is being established as a joint venture investment partnership between IAG 
Holdings 3 Limited (a Guernsey registered company) and the Council, to manage the delivery 
of physical growth and regeneration in South Kesteven. 

The draft Members Agreement includes the following;
The parties hereby agree that the Objectives of the LLP are:

1.1.1. to deliver growth and regeneration, community and economic benefits in South 
Kesteven by the acquisition, marketing, redevelopment, investment in and 
disposal of land and buildings, sourced from SKDC General Fund or from third 
parties which will:

1.1.1.1. provide a catalyst for economic regeneration such as housing, 
leisure, employment, and local spend by addressing key 
strategic priorities, attracting employers and business to the area 
and improving local infrastructure;

1.1.1.2. deliver the long-term growth ambitions of the Council;

1.1.1.3. achieve targeted area regeneration and redevelopment, 
including of existing settlements and communities;

1.1.1.4. procure a return to the Members commensurate to their 
investment and the level of risk in respect to such investment; 
and

1.1.1.5. so far as consistent with the overall objectives set out in this 
clause to maximise the financial returns and profits made by the 
LLP,

1.1.2. to provide services (on a chargeable or non-chargeable basis) to support each 
Project SPV in the delivery of approved Project Plans and/or such other 
services and/or activities as may be approved by the Partnership Board to 
promote the objectives set out in clause 4.1.1.

113

Agenda Item 6



Type of Company 

Limited Liability Partnership (LLP)

Date the Company Started Trading

To be advised, expected in 2019.

Designated Representatives

Councillor Kelham Cooke - Leader
Paul Thomas - acting Chief Executive
Alison Simpson - IAG
Mark Woodall - IAG

Members Agreement
The maximum number of Representatives appointed to the Partnership Board from time to time 
shall be six and the minimum number shall be four, provided that at all times there shall be at 
least two Council Representatives and two IAG Representatives appointed to the Partnership 
Board. 

The Council and IAG may from time to time each appoint up to three people to be Council 
Representatives and IAG Representatives (respectively) and such appointor may at any time 
remove any such Council Representative or IAG Representative (as appropriate) appointed by 
it from office and appoint another person in his or her place.  

Any such appointment or removal shall be effected by an instrument in writing signed by or on 
behalf of IAG or the Council (as the case may be) and shall take effect upon lodgement at the 
registered office of the LLP or on delivery to a meeting of the Partnership Board. 

Key Milestones Looking Forward

The first DSK project is expected to be on the council owned 15 acre site known as Barnack 
Road, Stamford.
An option to purchase would be granted by the Council to DSK on agreed terms, with the 
freehold transferring subject to the DSK Business Plan and specific Project Plan being 
approved by the Members.
A large mixed use scheme is envisaged in collaboration with Burghley House Preservation 
Trust which brings forward an extra 20 acres of land, to be known as Saint Martins Park.

Further projects in the District are being considered.

114



Companies Committee
19 November 2019

Witham Room, South Kesteven House

 Wherrys Lane 
Management 
Company 
Limited      
The Purpose of the Company

The Objects of the Company under the Articles of Association are as follows;

2.1.1. to acquire, develop, manage, deal with and administer the Estate together with 
services, facilities and amenities of every description in relation to the Estate; and

2.1.2. to act as an association of and for the Property Owners and to manage, insure and 
administer the Estate and, in particular, to provide such services for the Property Owners and 
to carry out such reconstruction, renewal, repairs, maintenance or renovation to it as may be 
necessary or desirable and to employ and engage workmen, labourers, clerks, builders, 
surveyors and technical and other staff as the Company thinks fit and to enter into contracts 
for the purposes of carrying out the foregoing objects or any of them.

The Company was incorporated to manage the common parts of the Estate and service 
charge for this development which the council still owns. It is a party to the long leasehold 
interests granted by the council when the flats were sold upon completion of the development.

Type of Company 

Private Company, limited by guarantee with the Council being the sole shareholder.

Date the Company Started Trading

29th May 2014

Company Directors

Tim Shaw (of Lambert Smith Hampton)
Cosec Management Services Limited acting as secretary

115

Agenda Item 7



Articles of Association 

Articles of Association restrictions/direction in relation to who the directors of the company will 
be or how they are appointed. 

Please see extract from Articles of association below: -

Appointment and Removal of Directors

18.1 Any person who is willing to act as a Director, and is permitted by law to do so, may be 
appointed to be a Director:

18.1.1 by ordinary resolution
18.1.2 by a decision of the Board

18.2 Any Director (other than the alternate director) may appoint any other Director, or any 
other person approved by resolution of the Board and willing to act, to be an alternate director 
and may remove from office an alternate director appointed by him.

18.3 An alternate director is entitled to receive notice of all Board meetings and of all 
meetings of committees of which his appointor is a Member, to attend and vote at any such 
meetings at which his appointor is not personally present, and generally to perform all the 
functions of his appointor as a director in his absence, but an alternate director is not entitled 
to receive any remuneration from the Company for his services as an alternate director.

18.4 Any appointment or removal of an alternate director shall be by notice to the Company 
signed by the director making or revoking the appointment or in any other manner approved 
by the Board.

18.5 Unless otherwise provided in these Articles or in any Rules. An alternate director is 
deemed for all purposes to be a Director and is solely responsible for his own acts and 
defaults, and he is not the agent of the Director appointing him.

Key Milestones Looking Forward

The company was set up to manage the common parts of the Estate and service charge for 
this development which the Council still owns.
Lambert Smith Hampton had been awarded the contract to manage various general fund 
investment properties at the time of incorporation.
If the freehold of this development is sold by the Council, the contract for sale would include 
for the company to be sold with the land to the purchaser.

116



Companies 
Committee
19 November 2019

Witham Room, South Kesteven 
House

ENVIRONMENTSK      
The Purpose of the Company
EnvironmentSK (ESK) is a private company set up to provide grounds maintenance services 
to SKDC and the wider market. The company was incorporated on 30th October 2018 and 
began trading on 1st March 2019. The company is wholly-owned by South Kesteven District 
Council. 

The company’s ambition is to become a leading provider of grounds maintenance services 
across the country. 

ESK is classed as a Teckal company whereby the Council is allowed to award its work to the 
company without procurement competition but any additional trading outside of the council’s 
work base is limited up to 20% of turnover, based on a three-year average. 

ESK has a sister company EnvironmentSK Commercial. It currently has no employees but the 
intention is to operate and trade any larger commercial contracts which are secured via the 
EnvironmentSK brand through this arrangement. Future Teckal allowances may have been 
reduced through any potential reduction in SKDC’s contract requirements. EnvironmentSK 
Commercial has a wider scope, not limited to grounds maintenance. 

Start up 
A business loan from South Kesteven District Council for the amount of £571,000 was used to 
purchase equipment and support the creation of the company. ESK are paying back the loan 
at a commercial rate through generated profits.

The investment decisions associated with potential future profits of ESK will be considered by 
the Board in conjunction with the Operations Director. Investment of profits to secure greater 
growth and profit generation are a priority alongside debt repayments. Tax efficiency will be 
taken into account. 

Contractual Arrangements and income generation
SKDC is currently the primary client alongside additional externally secured clients. The 
business aim is to secure external contracts where they become the major income stream for 
the company so over time less reliance is placed on the SKDC contract. 

The first year objective is cover all operating costs and set up costs delivering an initial year 
one profit. 

117

Agenda Item 8



Support Services
Significant time was invested in ensuring SKDC’s support service providers understood the 
requirements of a private commercial company. The support services stepped up and have 
provided all the support services to-date. Whilst not guaranteed, future ongoing use of SK’s 
services will be based on the clear requirement for high performance standards. 

Type of Company
Private Limited Company (limited by shares)
Date the Company Started Trading
1st March 2019

Company Directors
Dr Peter Moseley (Chairman)
Ian Yates
Mark Jones

Articles of Association
Cabinet approved the creation of the company based on standard Articles of Association 
which therefore sets the appointment of Directors to the Board.

Key Milestones Looking Forward
Complete the first years trading and return a profit
Wider marketing and business analysis allowing tendering, business development and 
pipeline management going forward
Review of first years performance and how we can grow the business
Review of support service functions and systems to enhance the service received
Repay the start-up investment loan

118



Companies Committee
19 November 2019

Witham Room, South Kesteven House

East Midlands 
Building 
Consultancy      
The Purpose of the Company

Building Control Function

To provide an efficient, cohesive partnership offering expertise, flexibility and professionalism 
in the administration of Building Control legislation. The council’s original objective was to 
establish and participate in a shared service with a facilitating role in setting and delivering the 
service. The main objectives behind creating a shared service were the delivery of a 
sustainable building control function that would be more economical, efficient and effective.

The service provides fee earning work such as the building control inspections and associated 
certification and non-fee earning work such as maintaining all records for all building work 
inspections including those undertaken by EMBC and any independent approved inspectors 
(AI’s). The EMBC service is in competition with AI’s for the fee earning work. Customers are 
free to use their local authority service or an independent AI.

Type of Company 

East Midlands Building Consultancy is a shared service between three local Authorities with 
South Kesteven District Council as the host Local Authority. The shared service contract is 
between South Kesteven District Council, Rushcliffe Borough Council and Newark and 
Sherwood District Council. A deed of agreement is in place signed by all three shared service 
partners; this was extended in 2019. 

Date the Company Started Trading

The delivery council for the three local Authorities has worked collaboratively since 1st July 
2013 to set up the delivery of the shared service. The first phase combined Rushcliffe 
Borough Council and South Kesteven District Council, with Newark and Sherwood joining 
later in 2015. All costs are divided equally between the three partners. The total running costs 
are approximately £870,000 per year. The service targets and normally achieves a better than  

119

Agenda Item 9

http://www.eastmidlandsbc.com/


breakeven position on the fee earning work and the recharge to each partner for the non-fee 
earning work is approximately £80,000 per annum.

Company Directors

The delivery work of the shared service is supported by the partnership board made of senior 
managers from the councils as detailed in the shared service agreement. The role of the 
board is to oversee the delivery of the agreement, which is managed by the building control 
manager and the operational management team.

Articles of Association 
Not applicable

The EMBC Team

The EMBC team consists of an operational management team who oversee the operation 
and daily running of the service. There is a technical administration team with full and part 
time staff. A full team of surveyors who mostly work from home operate remotely and work on 
or close to their designated areas. Due to the size of the area the surveyors operate in 
clusters to allow cover for each other during absence for training and holidays. The service 
has 20 employees full and part time.

Key Milestones 

The achievements of the team:

(1) The ability of the entire team to work remotely home working.
(2) The staff working at home are linked to the main phone system to take phone calls.
(3) We operate a fully functioning paperless office.
(4) The team embrace the use of new technology.
(5) Operate a hot desk system in the council offices.
(6) The team has stabilised from three units into a single functioning unit.
(7) Made use of technology for lone working policy.
(8) Reduced costs to the Local Authority.
(9) Brought in extra income from discretionary services.
(10) Provide a more efficient and quality service for its local citizens.
(11) Marketing on success in a commercially competitive market place in maintaining 

market share.
(12) The team are proactive in improving working practice.
(13) EMBC gained ISO 9001 Standard Quality management in 2018 on the LABC 

system.
(14) We have 4 award winners from the East Midlands regional awards through to the 

national awards in London.
(15) Staff retention- we have had no members of staff leave in the last 2 years.
(16) The results of the staff survey show the staff morale has remained at a high level for 

the last 2 years. 

120



Looking Forward

Projects in hand for the next quarter:

(1) The introduction of a mobile application to allow upload and download of data.
(2) The introduction of electronic forms and loading plans through the web site.
(3) To assess the results of the business review instigated by the partner chief 

executives.

121



This page is intentionally left blank



Companies Committee
19 November 2019

Witham Room, South Kesteven House

Gravitas Housing Ltd      
The Purpose of the Company
The Articles of Association show that:

The Company has been established by the Council to allow the Council to exercise the
power to trade contained in the Local Government Act 2003 and/or pursuant to the general
power of competence in the Localism Act 2011.

The Business of the Company shall be:

 to operate as a commercial company (for trading or other purposes) and deliver a 
financial return for the benefit of the Shareholder and/or to fund the Company's future 
Business activities;

 to purchase land and property within the Council's administrative area and beyond from 
either the Council or on the open market;

 to develop, acquire, construct and/or refurbish residential homes [and retail and 
commercial premises] within the Council's administrative area and beyond where such 
homes will be sold at market or on shared ownership terms or rented (either on the 
open market or at a sub-market rent) and in either case in accordance with the Lettings 
Policy and the Sales Policy (as the case may be),

together with any activities reasonably incidental to the above.

Currently Gravitas Housing Company has been used as a wholly council owned delivery 
vehicle to deliver new housing outside of the Housing Revenue Account that includes own 
market sales, private rented and shared ownership.

The scale and extent of development is targeted for small and medium sites (up to 40 units) 
that otherwise would not come forward in the open market.

This is an intervention that provides much needed housing on difficult sites that are supported 
by business cases that at the very least cover all costs and potentially add to ‘new’ income for 
the council.

123

Agenda Item 10



Type of Company 

Private Limited Company, limited by shares with the council being the sole shareholder.

Date the Company Started Trading

30th January 2017

Company Directors

Harrinder Rai- Assistant Director, Housing
Richard Wyles- Director of Finance
Jane McDaid- Assistant Director, Growth

Articles of Association 

Articles of association restrictions/direction in relation to who the directors of the company will 
be or how they are appointed. Please see extract from Articles of association below: -

Appointment and Removal of Directors
21.1 Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the holder or holders of a 
majority in nominal value of the issued ordinary shares in the capital of the company 
may at any time and from time to time:

21.1.1 appoint any person to be a director (provided that any such appointment does
not cause the number of directors to exceed a number fixed by or in accordance with 
these articles as the maximum number of directors); and/or

21.1.2 remove any director from office.

21.2 Every such appointment or removal shall be effected by notice in writing to the 
company and shall take effect immediately (or on such later date, if any, specified in 
the notice).

Any such notice of appointment or removal may consist of several documents in 
similar form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more holders.

In regards to the number of directors the articles state that Unless otherwise 
determined by ordinary resolution, the number of directors is not subject to any 
maximum and the minimum number is three.

Key Milestones Looking Forward

Gravitas is currently near completion of a 33-unit development in Bourne, that offers houses 
and apartments across 2 blocks.

These will be completed by the end of December 2019 and two estate agents have been 
commissioned to assist in their sale. The affordable housing provision has been met with 
offsite commuted sums and also 4 discounted market sales (i.e. 80% of market price)

124



The next development in the programme is to use recycled receipts from the above scheme 
(subject to Member’s consideration) and develop out 5-8 units of detached houses on a 
previously owned Grantham College site that houses the ex-police houses.

The site has been acquired and is in the Council’s ownership. Feasibility studies are 
underway to identify the most optimum type of development.

125



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Remit of the Companies Committee
	5 InvestSK
	iSK App 1 Tailored Articles of Association
	iSK App 2 Governance Manual Final Sept 2019
	iSK App 3 Organogram October 2019
	iSK App 4 Grants Overview
	iSK App 5 Accounts 18-19
	iSK App 6 Business Plan 2019-22 incl Dept Action Plans 19-20
	iSK App 7 Budget 2019-20
	iSK App 8 Outputs First Year

	6 DeliverSK
	7 Wherrys Lane Management Limited
	8 EnvironmentSK
	9 East Midlands Building Control
	10 Gravitas Housing

